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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE 
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)
GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk 
may be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the 
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful 
consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to 
professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more 
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there 
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, 
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss 
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited (the “Company”) 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing 
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable 
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and 
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which 
would make any statement herein or this document misleading.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Annual results for the five years from 2013

Year ended
31st March,

Year ended
31st March,

Year ended
31st March,

Year ended
31st March,

Year ended
31st March,

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue* 181,610 119,516 66,859 37,930 41,665
      

Profit/(loss) for the year from 
 continuing operations 26,397 32,999 40,921 (12,345) (48,048)
      

Profit for the year from 
 discontinued operation – – – – 12,598
      

Profit/(loss) for the year 26,397 32,999 40,921 (12,345) (35,450)
      

Profit/(loss) attributable to
 owners of the Company 26,315 32,922 40,724 (12,259) (35,091)
      

As at
31st March,

As at
31st March,

As at
31st March,

As at
31st March,

As at
31st March,

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 514,707 487,794 522,696 289,929 234,150

Total liabilities (24,436) (24,718) (100,672) (21,766) (10,340)
      

490,271 463,076 422,024 268,163 223,810
      

* Included revenue from both continuing and discontinued operations



Annual Report 20174 Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. SHIU Yeuk Yuen – Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. LEUNG Ge On, Andy

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. SIU Yim Kwan, Sidney, S.B.St.J.

Mr. KAM Tik Lun, CPA, FCCA, LL.M (ICFL)

Mr. LAU Gar Hung, Christopher, Bsc, in Mathematics 
(resigned on 30th June, 2016)

Mr. HO Siu King, Stanley, 
BEng (Civ E-Law) (HKU), LLB (HKU) and LLM (LSE) 

(appointed on 1st July, 2016)

Company Secretary

Mr. TO Chi, CPA, FCCA

Compliance Officer

Mr. LEUNG Ge On, Andy

Authorised Representatives

Mr. SHIU Yeuk Yuen
Mr. LEUNG Ge On, Andy

Audit Committee

Mr. KAM Tik Lun, CPA, FCCA, LL.M (ICFL)

Dr. SIU Yim Kwan, Sidney, S.B.St.J.

Mr. LAU Gar Hung, Christopher, Bsc, in Mathematics 
(resigned on 30th June, 2016)

Mr. HO Siu King, Stanley, 
BEng (Civ E-Law) (HKU), LLB (HKU) and LLM (LSE) 

(appointed on 1st July, 2016)

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Mr. KAM Tik Lun, CPA, FCCA, LL.M (ICFL)

Mr. SHIU Yeuk Yuen
Mr. LEUNG Ge On, Andy
Dr. SIU Yim Kwan, Sidney, S.B.St.J.

Mr. LAU Gar Hung, Christopher, Bsc, in Mathematics 
(resigned on 30th June, 2016)

Mr. HO Siu King, Stanley, 
BEng (Civ E-Law) (HKU), LLB (HKU) and LLM (LSE) 

(appointed on 1st July, 2016)

Legal Adviser on the Bermuda Law

Appleby

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Auditor

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
801-806 Silvercord, Tower 1
30 Canton Road
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Appleby Management (Bermuda) Ltd
Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 22
Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Registered Office

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business 
in Hong Kong

7th Floor, Zung Fu Industrial Building
1067 King’s Road
Quarry Bay
Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
409-415 Hennessy Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
16th Floor, The Center
99 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Stock Code

8079

Website

http://www.ecrepay.com



Annual Report 2017 5Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), I am pleased to present the audited consolidated results of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2017 to the Shareholders.

The money lending business has continued to achieve satisfactory and healthy growth in the past year and will continue to 
be the core business of the Group and to generate stable income to the Group. The revenue of this segment increase 4% 
when compare with the operations in 2016.

The Company reviewed that the e-commerce has been a part of the modern urban lifestyle in Hong Kong. The Group has 
been developing the retails and online sales business since the year 2015. The Group will continue to develop self-own 
brand products, namely Master Chef Series and FRESHNESSMART, and source different types of products from local or 
overseas suppliers to satisfy the ever-changing needs of our customers.

In addition, the Group started the frozen food processing and distribution business in 2016. The Group is continuing to 
import different kinds of frozen food, such as seafood, meats and fruits from local or overseas suppliers in supporting the 
retails and wholesales business of the Group. In addition, the Group also obtained the restricted food permit for online sale 
of prepackaged frozen meat and frozen poultry in May 2016. Furthermore, the distribution center is located at Kwai Hing 
which also obtained a certificate for the processing, storage and packaging of frozen meat, chilled meat and frozen marine 
products and also obtained the ISO22000:2005 food safety management system in June 2016 respectively. The Group puts 
the emphasis on food safety in our operation.

The wholesale business has also been engaging since January 2015. It generates a sustainable income to the Group.

Due to the catering industry players find it difficult to boost their business in Hong Kong local market. The Group engages 
catering coupon distribution business. End customers are eager to purchase these catering coupons with discounts and 
more willing to dine out. The Group cooperates with some key catering companies and builds an extensive sales channel 
and network. It is expected to benefit to our shareholders.

PROSPECTS
The Company expects the loan portfolio of money lending business continuously to increase in coming years. It will bring to 
the Group substantial revenue and profit.

The Company targets to integrate those retails and wholesales business through e-commerce and also expects it will 
become an independent and significant profit center of the Group.

In spite of all these expansion plans of the Group, the Group has been actively seeking suitable investment opportunities for 
business diversification. The Group will explore into different industry sectors so as to expand and diversify the scope of the 
Group’s business.
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APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, clients and staff members for 
their support in the past years. I would also like to express my personal appreciation to my fellow Board members for their 
continuous valuable contributions.

Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23rd June, 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
REVENUE OPERATION REVIEW
Revenue for the financial year ended 31st March, 2017 was approximately HK$181.6 million, representing an increase of 
approximately 52% when compared with the same period last year. Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year 
ended 31st March, 2017 was approximately HK$26.3 million and the corresponding period in 2016 was profit of HK$32.9 
million.

Money Lending Business

After actively participating in money lending business for more than six years, a solid client base has been built. In the 
financial year, revenue for this segment under review was approximately HK$75.6 million, representing 4% increase when 
compare with the operations in 2016. The Group expects this segment to grow steadily and generate sustainable income in 
the coming future.

Retail and Wholesale Business

The Group has been developing the retails and online sales business for the sales of grocery products (including frozen 
soup, frozen seafood, personal care products, stationery, electrical appliances and etc.) to the public.

The Group has also been developing the wholesale business in 2016. The wholesale business is a fine supplement to our 
retail business and it will certainly strengthen our overall business.

Revenue for this segment in the financial period under review was approximately HK$106 million, representing 125% 
increase when compare with the same period in 2016. We will continue to monitor the operation and develop new market in 
order to increase the revenue and market share. The Group expects this segment to grow steadily and generate sustainable 
income in the coming future.

Outlook

The Group will continue to look for ways to further improve its existing business and explore new investment opportunities to 
broaden the business scope of the Group with the ultimate goal to maximise the return to shareholders.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated cash flows. As at 31st March, 2017, the Group had 
cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$23 million (2016: HK$40 million).

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group had borrowings of HK$5 million (2016: HK$7 million) which were used to finance the 
operation of the Group.

As at 31st March, 2017, the Group’s gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of total borrowings (comprising amounts due 
to related parties, borrowings and obligation under a finance lease) less cash and cash equivalents then divided by total 
equity was nil (2016: nil).

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31st March, 2017, except for the pledged bank deposits, financial instruments of approximately HK$17.0 million (2016: 
HK$23.9 million) was pledged as collateral to securities brokers for margin financing granted to the Group. As at 31st 
March, 2017, no margin financing was utilised by the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES
Cash and bank deposits of the Group are mainly denominated in HK dollars (“HK$”).

Since most of the transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, no hedging or other arrangements to 
reduce the currency risk have been implemented.

EMPLOYEES
As at 31st March, 2017, the Group had around 97 (2016: 73) full-time employees. The total employee remuneration, 
including that of the Directors, for the year ended 31st March, 2017 amounted to approximately HK$24.6 million (2016: 
HK$19.1 million). The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, experience and the prevailing 
commercial practice.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the capital structure of the Company was changed as follows:

The Company repurchased an aggregate of 125,000 shares through the Stock Exchange on 28th September, 2016 and 4th 
October, 2016 respectively and those shares were cancelled on 17th October, 2016. The total issued share capital of the 
Company as at 31st March, 2017 is 220,094,354 shares.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 17th May, 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered into an agreement with the existing shareholders of 
Keep Choice Limited (“KCL”), an associate of the Company, for the formation of Topwise Global Holdings Limited (“Topwise 
Global”) in which the Group has 22% equity interest. An investment holding company, Power Moto Holdings Limited (“Power 
Moto”) was formed by Topwise Global and an independent third party. Topwise Global is interested in 90% of the issued 
share capital of Power Moto. Power Moto and its subsidiaries will be engaged in the vehicle maintenance business.

As agreed among the shareholders of KCL, KCL has been transferred to Power Moto and hence became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Power Moto. The Group’s capital contribution made to KCL previously was deemed as part of the required 
capital contribution to Topwise Global.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31st March, 2017, except for as disclosed below, the Company did not provide any corporate guarantee to third 
parties.

Contingent rental liabilities

On 20th October, 2015, a new tenancy agreement was jointly entered by Top Euro Limited (“Top Euro”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Mark Glory International Enterprise Limited (“Mark Glory”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of China 3D Digital Entertainment Limited (now known as “HMV Digital China Group Limited”) with Wit 
Way Enterprises Limited in relation to the lease of the premises. The duration of the tenancy agreements is for two years 
commencing from 1st November, 2015 to 31st October, 2017 with a monthly rental of HK$325,000 inclusive of management 
charges (equivalent to HK$3,900,000 per annum), but exclusive of government rates and all other outgoings. The rent, 
government rates and all outgoings of the premises shall be paid by Top Euro and Mark Glory in equal shares.

If either party fails to fulfill their leasing obligations under the agreement, the other party will obligate to pay the other 
party’s outstanding contingent rental liability amounting to HK$1,180,000 per annum. The taking up of the contingent rental 
liability constitutes a provision of financial assistance under the GEM Listing Rules.

Performance Guarantee

The Company provided a performance guarantee for KCL, an associate of the Company, regarding the management, 
operation and maintenance of New Kowloon Bay Vehicle Examination Centre and the relevant Hong Kong government 
tender. The letter of guarantee contains no specific amount and until the expiry of such contract. A counter-guarantee of 
78% of the guarantee liability was provided by a shareholder of one of the shareholders of KCL.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
EXECUTIVES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen (“Mr. Shiu”), aged 67, is the executive director since December, 2010 and appointed as the Chairman 
of the Group in January, 2011. Mr. Shiu has over 38 years’ experience in the ceramic tile and marble and granite products 
industry and over 12 years’ experience in securities investment.

Mr. Shiu was one of the founders and has been the executive director of Companion Building Material International Holdings 
Limited (together with its subsidiaries, the “CBMI Group”, currently known as Pacific Century Premium Developments Ltd, 
stock code: 432), a company listed on The Stock Exchange, for the period from September, 1993 to January, 2002 during 
which he was responsible for the development of the CBMI Group’s corporate strategies.

Mr. Leung Ge On, Andy (“Mr. Leung”), aged 48, is the executive director of the Company. Mr. Leung joined the Group 
since 2005 and was appointed as an executive director in December, 2010. Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree 
in Economics at York University in Canada. Mr. Leung has extensive experience in business development, operation and 
marketing management. Mr. Leung is the nephew of Mr. Shiu.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. SIU Yim Kwan, Sidney (“Dr. Siu”), S.B.St.J., aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and 
member of Audit Committee of the Company in December, 2004. Dr. Siu is also the independent non-executive director of 
Wang On Group Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong since November, 1993.

Dr. Siu is a director of The Association of The Directors & Former Directors of Pok Oi Hospital Limited which is a 
non-profitable association and providing community services in Hong Kong.

Dr. Siu is also a director and general vice-president of The Hong Kong Taekwondo Association Limited, a sport and 
non-profitable association in Hong Kong and also an executive member of a number of charitable organisations and sports 
associations.

Mr. KAM Tik Lun (“Mr. Kam”), CPA, FCCA, LL.M (ICFL), aged 41, joined the Company in March, 2012. Mr. Kam is the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Kam holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Concordia University, Canada and a 
Postgraduate Diploma in International Corporate and Financial Law from The University of Wolverhampton, UK and a Master 
of Laws in International Corporate and Financial Law from The University of Wolverhampton, UK. He is a member of The 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Kam has 
over 12 years of experience in the financial markets. He has vast experience in providing business consultancy, business 
valuation services, financial analysis and corporate advisory. Mr. Kam is also an independent non-executive director of HMV 
Digital China Group Limited (Stock code: 8078) and Chinese Food and Beverage Group Limited (Stock code: 8272) , both 
companies listed on the GEM Board of Stock Exchange.

Mr. Ho Siu King, Stanley (“Mr. Ho”), BEng (Civ E-Law) (HKU), LLB (HKU) and LLM (LSE), aged 29, joined the Company in 1st 
July, 2016. Mr. Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director, a member of Audit Committee, Nomination 
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. He holds a Master of Laws degree from the London School of 
Economics and Political Science, and Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Engineering (Civil Engineering and Laws) degrees 
from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ho is a practicing barrister in Hong Kong. His areas of practice include civil and 
criminal law. Mr. Ho is also an independent non-executive director of Chinese Food and Beverage Group Ltd., a company 
listed on the GEM Board of Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8272).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
A. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance to protect the interests of the 
shareholders of the Company. The Company had complied with most of the code provisions set out in the Code on 
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules throughout the 
year ended 31st March, 2017, except for the following deviation of Code A.2.1.

Code A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be 
performed by the same individual.

The positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company are both currently 
carried on by the same person, Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen. The Board considers that this structure does not undermine 
the balance of power and authority between the Board and the management. The Board members have considerable 
experience and qualities which they bring to the Company and there is a balanced composition of Executive 
Directors and Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors). Given the composition of the 
Board, the Board believes that it is able to ensure that the balance of power between the Board and the management 
is not impaired. The Board believes that having the same person performing the roles of both Chairman and CEO 
does provide the Group with strong and consistent leadership and that, operating in this manner allows for more 
effective and efficient overall strategic planning of the Group.

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Board was responsible for determining the policy for the corporate 
governance of the Company performing the corporate governance duties as below:

•	 to 	 deve lop	 and	 rev iew	 the	 Group ’s 	 po l i c ies	 and	 prac t ices	 on	 corpora te	 governance	 and	 make	
recommendations;

•	 to	 review	 and	 monitor	 the	 training	 and	 continuous	 professional	 development	 of	 the	 Directors	 and	 senior	
management;

•	 to	 review	 and	 monitor	 the	 Group’s	 policies	 and	 practices	 on	 compliance	 with	 all	 legal	 and	 regulatory	
requirements (where applicable);

•	 to	 develop,	 review	 and	 monitor	 the	 code	 of	 conduct	 and	 compliance	 manual	 applicable	 to	 employees	 and	
Directors; and

•	 to	 review	 the	 Group’s	 compliance	 with	 the	 Code	 and	 disclosure	 requirements	 in	 the	 corporate	 governance	
report.

B. SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 (the “Required Standard of 
Dealings”) of the GEM Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with 
the Required Standard of Dealings for the financial year ended 31st March, 2017.
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C. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board, number of Board meetings and Directors’ attendance

The Company’s Board is comprised of experienced and highly competent individuals and a balanced composition 
of Executive and Non-executive Directors. 6 Board meetings were held during the financial year ended 31st March, 
2017. The composition of the Board and attendance of the Directors are set out below:

Name of Directors

Attendance/Number
of Board meetings

held during the year

Attendance/Number
of General meetings
held during the year

Executive Directors
 Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen (Chairman) 6/6 1/1
 Mr. Leung Ge On, Andy 6/6 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
 Dr. Siu Yim Kwan, Sidney, S.B.St.J. 5/6 1/1
 Mr. Kam Tik Lun, CPA, FCCA, LL.M (ICFL) 6/6 1/1
 Mr. Lau Gar Hung, Christopher Bsc, in Mathematics 

 (resigned on 30th June, 2016) 3/6 –
 Mr. Ho Siu King, Stanley BEng (Civ E-Law) (HKU), LLB (HKU) and 

 LLM (LSE) (appointed on 1st July, 2016) 2/6 1/1

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant 
to the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Leung Ge On, Andy is the nephew of Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen. Save for the aforesaid, there is no relationship 
between members of the Board.

The two Executive Directors are responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversee the Group’s 
businesses, strategic decisions and performances and are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the 
Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The three Independent Non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of financial and other 
mandatory reporting of the Board as well as providing adequate checks and balances in the Board in order to protect 
shareholders’ interest and overall interest of the Group.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has given the Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant 
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are 
independent and meet the independent guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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D. APPOINTMENT AND SUCCESSION PLANNING OF DIRECTORS
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in the code 
provisions A.4 set out in the Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 
31st March, 2017.

Code A.4.1 stipulates that Non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election 
and Code A.4.2 stipulates that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by 
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.

All Independent Non-executive Directors appointed has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for 
a term of one year and renewable automatically for successive terms of another year unless terminated by three-
month notice in writing served by either party. Pursuant to the Code A.4.2, the Directors, regardless of his/her term 
of appointment, if any, are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new director 
appointed to fill a casual vacancy is subject to re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after his/her 
appointment. The Company in practice will observe Code A.4.2 and will ensure that any new director appointed to fill 
a casual vacancy shall submit himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after his/her 
appointment.

E. CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Code A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive should be separate and should not be 
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. In view of the scale of operations 
of the Company and the fact that daily operations of the Group’s business is delegated to the senior executives 
and department heads, the Board considers that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
in the same person will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the management of 
the Company. The Board also believes that the current structure provides the Company with strong and consistent 
leadership and allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and strategies. 
It is in the best interest of the Group to maintain the current practice for continuous efficient operations and 
development of the Group.
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F. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
A remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), consisting of three Independent Non-executive 
Directors and two Executive Directors, was set up by the Company in accordance with the Code. The Remuneration 
Committee has adopted written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.1.3. The primary duties of 
the Remuneration Committee include the following:

– evaluating the performance and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the 
individual executive directors and senior management;

– making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior 
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy;

– reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the board’s corporate 
goals and objectives.

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Remuneration Committee held three meetings with presence of all 
eligible members and reviewed and made recommendations on the remunerations packages of the Directors of the 
Group.

None of the Directors participated in the determination of his/her own remuneration. Attendance of the members of 
the Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Name of Directors

Number of meeting
attended/Number of

meeting held

Mr. Kam Tik Lun, CPA, FCCA, LL.M (ICFL) 3/3
Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen 3/3
Mr. Leung Ge On, Andy 3/3
Dr. Siu Yim Kwan, Sidney, S.B.St.J. 2/3
Mr. Lau Gar Hung, Christopher, Bsc, in Mathematics (resigned on 30th June, 2016) 1/3
Mr. Ho Siu King, Stanley, BEng (Civ E-Law) (HKU), LLB (HKU) and LLM (LSE) 

(appointed on 1st July, 2016) 1/3

G. AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the GEM Listing 
Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company’s annual report and financial 
statements, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to provide advice and comment thereon to the Board. The 
Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process and internal control 
procedures of the Group. Currently, it consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Kam Tik Lun, 
chairman of the Audit Committee, Dr. Siu Yim Kwan, Sidney and Mr. Ho Siu King, Stanley. Four meetings were held 
during the financial year ended 31st March, 2017. Attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is set out 
below:

Name of Directors

Number of meeting
attended/Number of

meeting held

Mr. Kam Tik Lun, CPA, FCCA, LL.M (ICFL) 4/4
Dr. Siu Yim Kwan, Sidney, S.B.St.J. 4/4
Mr. Lau Gar Hung, Christopher, Bsc, in Mathematics (resigned on 30th June, 2016) 1/4
Mr. Ho Siu King, Stanley, BEng (Civ E-Law) (HKU), LLB (HKU) and LLM (LSE) 

(appointed on 1st July, 2016) 3/4

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31st March, 2017, have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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H. NOMINATION COMMITTEE
A nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) consisting of three Independent Non-executive Directors and 
two Executive Directors was set up by the Company in accordance with the Code. The Nomination Committee has 
adopted written terms of reference, which have been amended by the Board in compliance with Code Provision A.5.3. 
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include:

– reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board 
at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
issuer’s corporate strategy;

– identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members and select or make recommendations to the 
board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

– reviewing the nomination of Directors and making recommendations to the Board on terms of such 
appointment;

– assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”), which sets out its approach to 
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company recognises the benefits of Board diversity and endeavours to ensure that the Board has the 
appropriate balance and level of skills, experience and perspectives required to support the execution of its business 
strategies. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, 
including professional qualifications and experience, cultural and educational background, gender and age. The 
Company will also take into consideration factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time to 
time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board has set measurable objectives (in terms of gender, skills and experience) to implement the Board 
Diversity Policy and review such objects from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress 
made towards achieving those objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as 
appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.

The Company considers that the current composition of the Board is characterised by diversity, whether considered 
in terms of professional background and skills.

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Nomination Committee held two meetings with the presence of all 
eligible members and (i) reviewed and discussed the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it 
has a balance of expertise, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements for the 
business of the Group and (ii) recommendation on the re-election of the retiring Directors.

I. MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 (the “Required Standard of 
Dealings”) of the GEM Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with 
the Required Standard of Dealings throughout the year ended 31st March, 2017.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Required Standard of 
Dealings (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in 
possession of any unpublished inside information of the Company.
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J. TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS
All Directors should participate in continuing professional development to develop and refresh their skills to ensure 
that they have appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that they are sufficiently 
aware of their responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The existing Directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, and the business and market 
changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional development for 
Directors will be arranged where necessary. 

The Company has also continually updated Directors on the latest development regarding the GEM Listing Rules and 
other regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance 
practices.

K. RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual, interim and 
quarterly reports, price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules and 
other regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31st March, 2017.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 26.

L. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31st March, 2017, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Moore Stephens 
CPA Limited, is set out as follows:

Fee
 

HK$’000

Statutory audit services 600
Non-statutory audit services –

 

Total 600
 

M. INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board has overall responsibility for the internal control system of the Company. The Board has developed its 
systems of internal control and risk management and is also responsible for reviewing and maintaining an adequate 
internal control system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company. During the 
period under review, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the 
Company.
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N. COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company recognises the importance in engaging in regular, effective and fair communication with its 
shareholders and is committed to conveying important and relevant information to the shareholders on a timely basis.

The Company strives to ensure that information is made publicly available in a prompt and timely disseminated 
manner. Disclosure of information is made through announcements to the Stock Exchange, the Company’s annual 
reports, interim reports and quarterly reports, as well as the corporate website (http://www.ecrepay.com).

O. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are 
contained in the Company’s Bye-laws. Details of such rights to demand a poll were included in the circular to 
shareholders in relation to the holding of 2017 annual general meeting and explained during the proceedings of the 
meeting.

Save as aforesaid, pursuant to section 62 of the Bye-Laws, special general meetings of the Company (the “SGM”) 
shall be convened on the requisition of the members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition 
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 
the Company. Such shareholders shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary 
of the Company, to require a SGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such 
requisition; and the SGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one 
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) 
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s), as a result of the 
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the shareholders, the Company has adopted a 
shareholders’ communicat ion pol icy ( the “Pol icy”). Under the Pol icy, the Company’s information shal l be 
communicated to the shareholders mainly through general meetings, including annual general meetings, the 
Company’s financial reports (annual, interim and quarterly reports), and its corporate communications and other 
corporate publications on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders may at any time 
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such information is publicly available. Any such 
questions shall be first directed to the Chairman of the Board of the Company at the Company’s principal place of 
business in Hong Kong by post or by email. Shareholders may also directly raise questions during the shareholders’ 
meetings.

The number of shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a shareholders’ meeting shall be any 
number of shareholders representing not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right 
of voting at general meetings at the date of the request.

P. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
The Company is committed to the sustainable development of the environment our society. The Group has 
endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and adopted effective 
environmental policies to ensure its projects meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental 
protection.

Q. RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Company recognises that our employees, customers and suppl iers and business associates are key 
stakeholders to the Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging our 
employees, providing quality products and services to our customers, collaborating with suppliers to deliver quality 
sustainable products and services and supporting our community.

R. COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. To Chi is the company secretary of the Company. Mr. To has confirmed that he had received no less than 15 
hours of relevant professional training for the year ended 31st March, 2017, in compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM 
Listing Rules.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
This year’s environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”) report is prepared by the Group to disclose information in 
relation to the ESG issues. In spite of this report is not comprehensive nor exhaustive, it is the endeavours of the Group to 
get as close as possible in compliance with the requirements under Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The key performance indicators (“KPI”) may at the moment not be as mature as those disclosed and presented by the other 
issuers in Hong Kong, not to mention to be compatible and comparable with international players. However, the Group is 
dedicated to develop and adopt a higher level of ESG reporting based on international guidance and standards.

The Board understand that it is important to involve itself in preparing this ESG report and it has extended its full support to 
the secretary of the Company, who is responsible for the task of compiling this ESG report and is reporting directly to the 
Board.

We take those having interests in or being affected by the decisions and activities of the Group as the stakeholders, who 
may include shareholders, business partners, employees, suppliers, consumers and the public. Since we recognize the 
importance of engaging stakeholders in identifying material aspects and KPI and understand their views, we take all and 
every opportunities to communicate with them in all occasions our environmental, social and governance approach and 
performance and are looking forward to their suggestion and comments.

The Group has commissioned itself to become a high-growth players in pursuing excellence in operations, at the same time 
we are dedicated to become a “Green Corporation” that explores business opportunities in this new and exciting sustainable 
world. We notice no conflict in becoming a profit making entity simultaneously being a Green Corporation.

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Group is principally engaged in money lending business, financial instruments 
and quoted shares investment, retails and wholesale business.

The geographical location of the Group’s businesses situated in Hong Kong. The Group’s headquarter was located in Quarry 
Bay district with branch offices at Wanchai, Mongkok and Kwai Chung.

This ESG report covers the Group’s endeavours and performance during the year ended 31st March, 2017 and four subject 
areas: workplace quality, environmental protection, operating practices and community involvement. Corporate governance 
is not included in this ESG report as it has been dealt with separately in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” 
in this Annual Report on pages 11 to 17.

Workplace quality
During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Group employed 97 staff (2016: 73). The Group’s remuneration policy is built 
on principle of equality, motivating, performance oriented and market-competitiveness. Remuneration packages are normally 
reviewed on an annual basis. Apart from salary payments, other staff benefits included provident fund contributions and 
performance related discretionary bonuses. A share option scheme is established to reward and motivate the employees of 
the Group as well.

Staff activities were organized for employees, including annual dinner and Christmas party. The sense of belonging of 
employees was enhanced and they have strong bonding with each other.
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By offering competitive remuneration packages and fringe benefits to our employees, our staff turnover rate remains stable, 
while job performance and productivity are maintained at satisfactory levels.

Occupational Health and Safety Data:

For the year ended
31st March, 2017

For the year ended
31st March, 2016

Work related fatality 0 0
Work injury cases >3 days 0 1
Work injury cases <3 1 0
Lost days due to work injury 2 33
Work injury rate 0.59% 1.37% 

The Company is committed to providing a healthy and safe workplace for all its employees. Policies and procedures have 
been in place to address work safety to reduce the chances of accident.

There is no child nor forced labour in the Group’s operations. They are in compliance with the laws of Hong Kong in terms of 
employment management.

The Group promotes fair treatment in the workplace. Although the Group does not have equal opportunity policies or anti-
discrimination and affirmative action policies, the Group encourages unprejudiced behavior within the workplace and 
discourages inappropriate behaviour from employees and supervisors in regard to the race, gender, sexual orientation or 
religious and cultural beliefs of another person within the Group.

Environmental protection
The Group implements policies and practices that help conserve resources, improve energy eff iciency and raise 
environmental awareness among our staff. We are committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation that pays 
close attention to conserving the natural resources on Earth. We strive to minimise our environmental impact while ensuring 
high standards in our service quality. We focus on paper and toner usage throughout all of our daily operation and we have 
always been devoted to reduce energy consumption as we closely monitor energy consumption at our offices.

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Group has no data on air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into 
water and land, generation of hazardous and nonhazardous wastes, etc. nor had the Group discharged hazardous and/or 
nonhazardous wastes into water and land.

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, we purchased A4 sized 80 gsm photocopying paper 795 reams (2016: 867 reams) 
and A3 sized 80 gsm photocopying paper 10 reams (2016: 14 reams). The Group did not have any other consumption on 
any other kind of papers.

Currently, in order to save paper, the Group reminds employees to practice photocopying wisely; encouraging the 
employees to use both sides of paper; separating the paper waste from other waste for easier recycling; and placing boxes 
and trays beside photocopiers as containers to collect single-sided paper for reuse purpose.

The Group will continue to explore opportunities to develop its green purchasing practices in paper supplies.
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Although the energy consumption level of the offices is insignificant as compared to that of the principal business activities, 
we have nevertheless developed the corresponding green office measures to save energy. For example, we have replaced 
some of the ordinary light bulbs and tubes to reduce the energy consumption of lighting. Besides, the air-conditioning 
temperature is controlled within a certain range during summer to reduce energy consumption while maintaining a 
comfortable office environment.

As most of the water usage was included in the management fee of the premises occupied by the Group’s operations, 
we have insignificant figures of the Group’s annual consumption as compared to that of the principal business activities, 
however, the Group is still conscientious in the conservation of water resources and encourage the staff members to reduce 
wastage.

Operating practices
The Group through its subsidiaries has communicated with its suppliers on the Company’s vision and mission and policies 
and procedures in respect of ESG. To be a responsible supplier, the Group has registered as a food importer/food 
distributor under the Food Safety Ordinance.

The Group always observes the local laws, rules and regulations at where its businesses located, as such, the Group 
applied and was granted and renewed, a money lenders licence in Hong Kong to carry on business as a money lender for a 
period of twelve (12) months from 22nd February, 2017.

Community involvement
In pursuit of business development, the Group also encourages the active participation of its employees in charitable 
activities to help the disadvantaged groups and contribute to the community. The Group will continue to explore more 
opportunities in contributing to community services.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31st March, 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group is principally engaged in money lending business, financial instruments and quoted shares investment, retail and 
wholesale business.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group’s future business development during the year ended 
31st March, 2017 are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on page 5 and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 
7 to 9 of this Annual Report.

The capital risk management and financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in note 39 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31st March, 2017 using financial key performance indicators 
is provided in the Financial Summary on page 3 of this Annual Report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on the Company are contained in the Corporate Governance Report and Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report on pages 11 to 20 of this Annual Report.

The Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers and business associates that have a 
significant impact on the Company and on which the Company’s success depends are shown in the Management Discussion 
and Analysis under “Employee” section on pages 7 to 9 and in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 11 to 17 of this 
Annual Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income on pages 32 to 33 of the annual report.

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2017 (2016: Nil)

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years is set out on page 3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in notes 14 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

ISSUED CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the movements in issued capital and share options of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2017 are set 
out in notes 27 and 28, respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out on page 36 in the consolidated financial 
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of the distributable reserves of the Company during the year are set out in note 37(iii) to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 34.2% of its cost of sale for the year ended 31st March, 
2017. The largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 13.1% of its cost of sale for the year ended 31st 
March, 2017.

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 12.7% of the Group’s turnover for the year ended 
31st March, 2017. The Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 6.4% of the Group’s turnover for the year 
ended 31st March, 2017.

Save as disclosed above, if any, none of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) or any shareholders of the Company (who, to the knowledge of 
the Directors, own more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any beneficial interest in any of the five 
largest suppliers or customers of the Group for year ended 31st March, 2017.

DONATION
During the year ended 31st March, 2017, no donation was made by the Group (2016: HK$3,000).

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the year are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen
Mr. Leung Ge On, Andy

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kam Tik Lun, CPA, FCCA, LL.M (ICFL)

Dr. Siu Yim Kwan, Sidney, S.B.St.J.

Mr. Lau Gar Hung, Christopher, Bsc, in Mathematics (Resigned on 30th June, 2016)
Mr. Ho Siu King, Stanley, BEng (Civ E-Law) (HKU), LLB (HKU) and LLM (LSE) (Appointed on 1st July, 2016)

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 17.50A (1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there are changes in the information required to be disclosed 
pursuant to paragraph (a) to (e) and (g) of total Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules during the course of the directors’ 
term of office. The total remuneration of Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen and Mr. Leung Ge On Andy were HK$1,676,000 and 
HK$597,000 per annum for year ended 31st March, 2017 respectively. The remuneration was determined based on their 
qualifications, experience, level of responsibilities and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Kam Tik Lun has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Chinese Food and Beverage Group 
Limited (stock code: 8272) with effect from 13 January 2017.

Mr. Ho Siu King, Stanley has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Chinese Food and Beverage 
Group Limited (stock code: 8272) with effect from 26 January 2017.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters that need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A (1) of the GEM 
Listing Rules.

LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THE DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Company has in force appropriate insurance coverage on Director’s and officer’s liabilities arising from the Group’s 
business. The Company reviews the extent of insurance coverage on an annual basis. 
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
All of the Directors have entered into a service contract with the Company and the service contracts shall be renewed 
automatically after a year unless and until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party 
to the other. Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors, regardless of his/her term of appointment, if any, are 
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new director appointed to fill a casual vacancy is 
subject to re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after his/her appointment.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company was entered into or existed during the year ended 31st March, 2017.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure of all remuneration of the 
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and 
comparable market practices.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS 
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors, senior management and five individuals with highest emoluments are set out in 
notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
On 4th January, 2011, the shareholders of the Company approved to terminate the old share option scheme and adopted 
a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) under which its Board of Directors may, at its discretion, offer full-time 
or part-time employees and Executive, Non-executive and Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company and/or 
any of its subsidiaries, suppliers, customers, advisors or consultants options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The 
maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to 
be exercised under the New Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group shall not exceed 10 per cent 
of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The subscription price will be determined by the Company’s 
Board of Directors and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares, (ii) the quoted closing 
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the options, and (iii) the average of the quoted closing prices of the 
Company’s shares on the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options.

The New Scheme is valid for ten years from the date of adoption.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to 
repurchase or settle the options.

For the year ended 31st March, 2017, no option was granted and outstanding under the New Scheme.

There is no employee compensation expense which was included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31st March, 2017 (2016: Nil). No liabilities was recognised due to share-based payment transactions.
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DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY 
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31st March, 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of part XV of the 
SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV 
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the 
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which 
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by the Directors to 
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Name
Personal
Interests

Family
Interests

Other
Interests Total

Approximate
percentage to

the issued share
capital of the

Company as at
31st March, 2017

Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen
 (note 1)

– 1
(note 2)

82,288,613
(note 3)

82,288,614 37.39%

Mr. Leung Ge On, Andy
 (note 1)

22,050 – – 22,050 0.01%

Notes:

1. Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen (“Mr. Shiu”) and Mr. Leung Ge On, Andy are the Executive Directors of the Company.

2. 1 share of the Company are held by Ms. Hau Lai Mei, the spouse of Mr. Shiu Yeuk Yuen.

3. 82,288,613 shares of the Company are held by Able Rich Consultants Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rich Treasure Group 
Limited, of which Mr. Shiu is the sole director and shareholder of that company.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS 
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
So far as known to the Directors, as at 31st March, 2017, the Directors were not aware of any other person (other than the 
Directors and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) who had an interests or short position in the shares or 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 
SFO, or who was interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital, or options in respect of such 
capital, carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

Name No. of Shares

Approximate
percentage to the

issued share
capital of the

Company as at
31st March, 2017

HMV Digital China Group Limited (note) 26,093,500 11.86%

Note: 26,093,500 Shares refer to the aggregate of (a) 21,509,075 Shares held by HMV Digital China Group Limited and (b) 4,584,425 shares 
held by New Smart International Creation Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of HMV Digital China Group Limited.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the 
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
For the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as follows:

Date of Repurchase

Number of
shares

repurchased
Aggregate

Consideration

Price
per share

repurchased

28th September, 2016 25,000 HK$17,250 HK$0.69
  

4th October, 2016 100,000 HK$71,000 HK$0.71
  

Total: 125,000 HK$88,250
  

The above shares were cancelled on 17th October, 2016.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions for the period are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed therein, there were no other transactions to be disclosed as related party transactions in accordance with 
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTEREST
None of the Directors or the controlling shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company has an interest in 
a business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independent 
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the Independent Non-executive Directors to be 
independent.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this 
report, the Company maintained the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Connected Transaction on Assignment of Loan

On 30th March, 2017, Yvonne Credit Service Co., Limited (“Yvonne Credit”) entered into the Transfer Mortgage Agreement 
with Quick Money Finance Limited (“Quick Money”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of HMV Digital China Group Limited (“HMV 
Digital”) and clarifications made on 31st March, 2017 and 6th April, 2017, pursuant to which Yvonne Credit agreed to assign 
and transfer, Quick Money agreed to accept the rights, title, interest and benefits in and to the Loan at a consideration of 
HK$6,794,759.09.

HMV Digital is a substantial shareholder of the Company and interested in approximately 11.86% of the issued share capital 
of the Company. Accordingly, HMV Digital and its subsidiaries are regarded as connected persons of the Company under 
the GEM Listing Rules. Therefore, the entering into of Transfer Mortgage Agreement constitutes connected transaction 
for the Company and is subject to reporting and announcement but exempted from independent shareholders’ approval 
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the connected transaction were disclosed in the announcement dated 30th March, 2017, 31st March, 2017 and 6th 
April, 2017.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing Connected Transaction I

On 9th October, 2012, a tenancy agreement was jointly entered by Top Euro Limited (“Top Euro”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Mark Glory International Enterprise Limited (“Mark Glory”), an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of HMV Digital China Group Limited (“HMV Digital”) with Wit Way Enterprise Limited, in relation to the lease of 
the premises. As the tenancy agreement expired on 31st October, 2015, a new tenancy agreement was entered into by 
the same parties on 20th October, 2015 (“Date of Agreement”). The terms of the new tenancy agreement is for two years 
commencing from 1st November, 2015 to 31st October, 2017, both days inclusive, with a monthly rental of HK$325,000 
inclusive of management charges (equivalent to HK$3,900,000 per annum), but exclusive of government rates and all other 
outgoings. The rent, government rates and all outgoings of the premises shall be paid by Top Euro and Mark Glory in equal 
shares.

HMV Digital is a substantial shareholder of the Company as at the Date of Agreement. Accordingly, HMV Digital are 
regarded as connected person of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. Therefore, the new tenancy agreement 
(including the contingent rental liability, being a provision of financial assistance) constitutes continuing connected 
transactions for the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The applicable percentage ratio (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) on an annual basis for the new tenancy agreement 
(including the contingent rental liability, being a provision of financial assistance) for the Company and HMV Digital 
exceed 5% but are less than 25% and the annual caps under the new tenancy agreement are less than HK$10,000,000. 
Accordingly, pursuant to Rule 20.74(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the new tenancy agreement (including the contingent 
rental liability, being a provision of financial assistance) is subject to reporting and announcement requirements but 
exempted from independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The aggregate annual cap of the aforesaid continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31st March, 2017 was 
HK$4,036,800 and the transaction amount in connection with the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31st 
March, 2017 was HK$2,023,300, which was within the annual caps as set out in the Company’s announcement dated 9th 
October, 2012 and 20th October, 2015.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction II

Basic Wholesale Limited (“Basic”) is a subsidiary of the Company. The Company indirectly holds 80% of equity interests 
in Basic and the remaining 20% is held by Upstair Wholesale (HK) Limited (“Upstair”). Mr. Yeung Tak Lok (“Mr. Yeung”), 
a director of Basic, is one of the directors and shareholders with 30% or above equity interests in Upstair and Lok Chun 
Trading Limited.

Mr. Yeung or its related parties has a good networks and a wide range of sources or suppliers in the wholesale industry. 
Therefore, Basic was authorised to have purchase and sales transactions with Mr. Yeung or its related parties during the 
year ended 31st March, 2017.

The related party transactions in respect of the sales and purchase of groceries products constitute continuing connected 
transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules as the non-controlling shareholder is a connected person at 
subsidiary level. However, those transactions are exempt from the circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’ 
approval requirements in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31st March, 2017, sales and purchase of groceries products to and from Lok Chun Trading Limited 
amounted to HK$1,060,000 and HK$12,665,000 respectively which is within the approved cap of HK$50,000,000.

Auditor’s letter on continuing connected transactions

The Board has engaged Moore Stephens CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company to report the Group’s continuing 
connected transact ions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance 
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to the Practice Note 
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transaction under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing their findings and 
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions of the Group disclosed above in accordance with Rule 20.54 
of the GEM Listing Rules. The auditor has confirmed to the Company that nothing has come to their attention that causes 
them to believe that the continuing connected transactions of the Group for year ended 31st March, 2017 disclosed above:

(1) have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(3) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such 
transactions; and

(4) have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and have confirmed that the 
transactions have been entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal commercial 
terms, and in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable and in 
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Contracts of Significance

Except for the disclosure under the heading “continuing connected transactions” above and save as detailed in note 29 to 
the consolidated financial statements on the annual report, there are no other contracts of significance in relation to the 
Group’s business to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had 
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.



Annual Report 201728 Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2017 were audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited 
whose term of office will expire upon the annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of Moore Stephens 
CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company for the subsequent year will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2015 was audited by Ting Ho Kwan & Chan 
CPA Limited and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2016 was audited by Moore Stephens 
CPA Limited.

On behalf of the Board
Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited

Shiu Yeuk Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23rd June, 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF EASY REPAY FINANCE & INVESTMENT LIMITED
(Continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited and its subsidiaries 
(“the Group”) set out on pages 32 to 98, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st March, 
2017, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31st March, 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

As a t  31s t  March ,  2017,  the Group had loans and 
advances to customers amounting to HK$400.2 million. The 
allowance for impairment amounted to HK$7.4 million as at 
31st March, 2017.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews 
the loans and advances to customers for evidence of 
impairment both on an individual and collective basis.

I m p a i r m e n t  a s s e s s m e n t  i s  s u b j e c t i v e  a n d  h i g h l y 
j u dg emen ta l  and  has  a  h i gh  deg ree  o f  es t ima t i on 
uncer ta in ty .  We there fo re iden t i f ied the impa i rment 
assessment of loans and receivables as a key audit matter.

Details are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Our procedures to address the matter included:

•	 Checked,	 on	 a	 sample	 basis	 on	 individually	 impaired	
loans, for the evidence of impairment and examined 
the expected future cash flows and the valuation of 
collaterals held, if any, and compared management’s 
estimate to external evidence where applicable;

•	 Checked,	 on	 a	 sample	 basis	 on	 loans	 that	 are	 not	
considered doubtful, for any evidence of impairment, 
including payment performance, the valuat ion of 
collaterals held, i f any and f inancial condit ion of 
customers;

•	 Assessed	 and	 challenged	 management’s	 estimates	
and assumpt ions  o f  t he  co l l ec t i ve  impa i rmen t 
assessment.
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the financial summary, corporate information, chairman’s statement, management discussion and analysis, 
biographical details of directors and senior executives, corporate governance report, environmental, social and governance 
report and report of the directors but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibi l i t ies of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for 
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this 
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.



Annual Report 2017 31Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:–

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	 an	 understanding	 of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 audit	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	 procedures	 that	 are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 accounting	 policies	 used	 and	 the	 reasonableness	 of	 accounting	 estimates	 and	
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

•	 Conclude	 on	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	 directors’	 use	 of	 the	 going	 concern	 basis	 of	 accounting	 and,	 based	 on	
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	 the	 overall	 presentation,	 structure	 and	 content	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements,	 including	 the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	 sufficient	 appropriate	 audit	 evidence	 regarding	 the	 financial	 information	 of	 the	 entities	 or	 business	 activities	
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan King Keung
Practising Certificate Number: P06057

Hong Kong, 23rd June 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31st March, 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from money lending 5(a) 75,571 72,357

Revenue from sale of goods 5(a) 106,039 47,159
Cost of goods sold (91,859) (41,260)

Gross profit from sale of goods 14,180 5,899

Investment and other income 6 526 3,388
Other gains and losses, net 7 (3,412) (194)
Servicing, selling and distribution costs (11,238) (7,548)
Administrative expenses (42,602) (38,661)
Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, net 21(b) (321) (2,084)
Bad debts recovery on loans and advances to customers 21(b) 279 2,904
    

Operating profit 32,983 36,061

Finance costs 11 (1,728) (1,780)
Share of results of associates 15 (145) (339)
    

Profit before taxation 8 31,110 33,942

Income tax expense 12 (4,713) (943)
    

Profit for the year 26,397 32,999
    

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Changes in fair value of financial asset at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 837 5,456

    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 837 5,456
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 27,234 38,455
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 26,315 32,922
Non-controlling interests 82 77
    

26,397 32,999
    

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 27,152 38,378
Non-controlling interests 82 77
    

27,234 38,455
    

Earnings per share 13
Basic and diluted HK$0.12 HK$0.15
    

The notes on pages 39 to 98 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st March, 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31st March, 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 20,675 22,395
Interests in associates 15 13,073 –
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 16 8,361 8,813
Loans and advances to customers 21 167,303 196,348
    

209,412 227,556
    

Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17 9,700 19,156
Inventories 18 12,356 7,026
Trade receivables 19 18,354 3,852
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 20 5,784 2,375
Loans and advances to customers 21 232,864 185,993
Amounts due from associates 15 1,899 837
Pledged bank deposits 22 1,014 1,010
Cash and cash equivalents 23 23,324 39,989
    

305,295 260,238
    

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 10,741 5,577
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 3
Amounts due to non-controlling interests 29(b) 852 746
Amount due to an associate 29(b) 28 –
Amounts due to related parties 29(b) 2,200 10,200
Borrowings 25 5,000 7,000
Obligation under a finance lease 26 105 207
Income tax payable 5,510 880
    

24,436 24,613
    

Net current assets 280,859 235,625
    

Total assets less current liabilities 490,271 463,181
    

Non-current liabilities
Obligation under a finance lease 26 – 105
    

– 105
    

Net assets 490,271 463,076
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 27(b) 2,201 2,202
Reserves 484,853 457,788
    

487,054 459,990

Non-controlling interests 3,217 3,086
    

Total equity 490,271 463,076
    

The notes on pages 39 to 98 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 32 to 98 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors 
on 23rd June, 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Shiu Yeuk Yuen Leung Ge On Andy
Director Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

As at 31st March, 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31st March, 2017

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Capital Investment Non-
Share Share redemption Capital revaluation Contributed Accumulated controlling Total

capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* surplus* losses* Total interests equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 27(b)) (note 27(c)(i)) (note 27(c)(ii)) (note 27(c)(iii)) (note 27(c)(iv)) (note 27(c)(v))

Balance at 1st April, 2015 2,202 353,907* 278* 28,546* (20,839)* 221,038* (163,029)* 422,103 (79) 422,024
           

Profit for the year – – – – – – 32,922 32,922 77 32,999

Other comprehensive income:
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income – – – – 5,456 – – 5,456 – 5,456
           

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 5,456 – 32,922 38,378 77 38,455
           

Transactions with owners:
Acquisition of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries – – – (154) – – (337) (491) (109) (600)
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – 3,197 3,197
Reduction of contributed surplus to set off against 

accumulated losses (note 27(c)(v)) – – – – – (75,112) 75,112 – – –
           

Total transactions with owners of the Company – – – (154) – (75,112) 74,775 (491) 3,088 2,597
           

Balance at 31st March, 2016 and 1st April, 2016 2,202 353,907* 278* 28,392* (15,383)* 145,926* (55,332)* 459,990 3,086 463,076
           

Profit for the year – – – – – – 26,315 26,315 82 26,397

Other comprehensive income:
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income – – – – 837 – – 837 – 837
           

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 837 – 26,315 27,152 82 27,234
           

Reclassification of investment reserve upon disposal  
of all financial assets in a subsidiary – – – – 35 – (35) – – –

           

Transactions with owners:
Buy-back of shares (note 27(b))

– Purchase of shares – – (88) – – – – (88) – (88)
– Cancellation of shares (1) – 1 – – – – – – –

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – 49 49
           

Total transactions with owners of the Company (1) – (87) – – – – (88) 49 (39)
           

Balance at 31st March, 2017 2,201 353,907* 191* 28,392* (14,511)* 145,926* (29,052)* 487,054 3,217 490,271
           

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately HK$484,853,000 (2016: HK$457,788,000) in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 39 to 98 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31st March, 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities

Profit before taxation 31,110 33,942

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 8 4,822 2,176
Dividend income from  

– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 (95) (421)
Exchange losses, net 7 – 495
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss, net 7 3,432 (598)
Finance costs 11 1,728 1,780
Interest income from 

– bank balances 6 (5) (71)
– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 – (958)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 7 – 297
Write-down of inventories 8 413 –
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 8 93 –
Allowance for impairment of loans and advances to customers 21 635 2,459
Reversal of allowance for impairment of loans  

and advances to customers 21 (314) (375)
Impairment losses on amount due from an associate 8 – 2,035
Write-off of an amount due from a related party 8 – 262
Share of results of associates 15 145 339
    

41,964 41,362

Increase in inventories (5,743) (6,803)
Increase in trade receivables (14,595) (3,308)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, prepayments and other receivables (3,409) 55,892
Increase in loans and advances to customers (18,147) (95,984)
Increase in trade and other payables 3,199 3,248
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (312) (37,478)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss 6,298 87,615
    

Cash generated from operations 9,255 44,544

Dividend received from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 95 421
Interest received from bank balances 5 89
Interest received from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 1,167
Interest and finance charges paid (1,728) (1,877)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (83) (120)
    

Net cash generated from operating activities 7,544 44,224
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Investing activities
Distribution received from a financial asset at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 1,289 –
(Increase in)/release of pledged bank deposits (4) 27,885
Increase in advance to an associate (1,062) (828)
Advance from an associate 28 –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,102) (8,232)
Net cash outflow for acquisition of a subsidiary 32 – (3,907)
Acquisition of interests in associates (11,218) (5,856)
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (14,069) 9,062
    

Financing activities
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling interests 106 –
Buy back of shares (88) –
Proceeds from non-controlling interests on incorporation of subsidiaries 49 199
Repayment of obligation under a finance lease (207) (203)
Drawdown of borrowings – 40,046
Repayment of borrowings (10,000) (107,269)
    

Net cash used in financing activities (10,140) (67,227)
    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (16,665) (13,941)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 39,989 53,930
    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 23,324 39,989
    

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Short-term bank deposit and cash at bank, security brokers and on hand 23 23,324 39,989
    

Significant non-cash transaction

As at 31st March, 2017, part of the investment cost in an associate accounting to HK$2,000,000 had not been paid. The 
amount was paid on 21st April, 2017.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the year ended 31st March, 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31st March, 2017

1. General information
Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited (the “Company”) was an exempted company continued into Bermuda with 
limited liability with effect from 30th April, 2008. The address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria 
Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda.

The principal places of business of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are in 
Hong Kong. The Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is 7th Floor, Zung Fu Industrial Building, 1067 
King’s Road, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Group is principally engaged in the money lending business, f inancial instruments and quoted shares 
investment, retail and wholesale business.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23rd 
June, 2017.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and 
the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements 
also comply with applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM 
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early 
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 3 provides information on any 
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they 
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial 
statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2017 comprise the financial statements 
of the Company, its subsidiaries and the Group’s interests in associates.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified 
by the revaluation of certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair values at the end of each 
reporting period. The measurement bases are described in the accounting policies below.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(a) Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed 
in note 4.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD” or “HK$”), which is the 
same as the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand except where otherwise indicated.

(b) Basis of consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly controlled by the Company. 
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights 
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including:-

•	 the	contractual	arrangement	with	the	other	vote	holders	of	the	investee;

•	 rights	arising	from	other	contractual	arrangements;	and

•	 the	Group’s	voting	rights	and	potential	voting	rights.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent 
of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interest having 
a deficit balance. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on 
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries 
below. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for an equity 
transaction.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment 
retained and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to income statement or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same 
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former 
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure non-controlling 
interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classif ication and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains 
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or l iabil ity that is a financial 
instrument and within the scope of HKFRS 9 (2009) is measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value either recognised in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the 
contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKFRS 9 (2009), it is measured in accordance with 
the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and 
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value 
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately 
in income statement as a bargain purchase gain.

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is 
presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of 
goodwill as at 31st March. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are 
assigned to those units or groups of units. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating units (group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. If 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units (group of cash-generating units) is less than its 
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss recognised for 
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) 
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation 
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of 
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

(ii) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary 
nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

In the consolidated financial statements, associates are accounted for using the equity method 
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amounts are adjusted for 
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets except that losses in 
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless the Group has incurred legal 
or constructive obligations to make good those losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the investees, including any impairment losses on the interests in associates for the 
year, are recognised in profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax items 
of the investees’ other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income of the 
Group.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the 
associate. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate has been impaired, 
the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial 
assets.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained 
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity 
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is 
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being 
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant 
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value 
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are 
recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associates. The investor’s share in 
the associate’s profits and losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying 
value of the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred, in which case they are immediately recognised in profit or loss.

Where the associates use accounting policies other than those of the Group for like transactions and 
events in similar circumstances, adjustments are made to conform the associates’ accounting policies 
to those of the Group when the associates’ financial statements are used by the Group in applying the 
equity method.

Keep Choice Limited (“KCL”) and Press locis Holdings Limited (“HL”) are material associates of the 
Company.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their 
estimated residual values, if any, over their useful lives, using straight-line method, at the following rates per 
annum:

Leasehold improvements 20% or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter
Equipment 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Ship 10%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 
owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of 
the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of 
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the item and is recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the assets to the Group. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

(i) Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value 
at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a 
finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so 
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses 
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, 
in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. 
Contingent rentals (if any) are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

(ii) Operating leases payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals (if any) arising under operating 
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental 
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets with finite 
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

(f) Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date when the purchase or sale of a financial 
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the time frame established 
by the market concerned. Financial assets are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except 
for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair 
value.

The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 
and translated at the spot rate at the end of reporting period. The foreign exchange component forms part 
of its fair value gain or loss. For financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, the foreign 
exchange component is recognised in profit or loss. For financial assets designated as at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, any foreign exchange component is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
For foreign currency denominated debt instruments classified at amortised cost, the foreign exchange gains 
and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the asset and are recognised in the “other gains 
and losses” line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Interest income is recognised on effective interest basis for debt instruments.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the financial asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to 
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

(a) Classification of financial assets

Following the early adoption of HKFRS 9 (2009) on 1st April, 2014, financial assets of the Group 
extant at that date are classified under the following categories:

– Financial assets at amortised cost

– Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

– Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Therefore, the Group’s recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at 
either amortised cost or fair value.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Debt instruments are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the following 
conditions:

– the assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows for managing liquidity and generating income on its 
investment, but not for the purpose of realising fair value gains; and

– the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, 
with interest being the consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk 
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and 
are unleveraged.

Debt instruments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction 
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
less any impairment, with interest revenue recognised on an effective yield basis and included 
in the “investment and other income” line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised 
in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

(a) Classification of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Debt instruments are classified under this category if they do not meet the conditions to be 
measured at amortised cost.

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at fair value through profit or loss, unless 
the Group designates an investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other 
comprehensive income on initial recognition as described below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with any gains 
or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss is included in the “other gains and losses” line item in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Interest income on debt instruments and dividend income on investments in equity instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Fair value gains or losses do 
not include any interest or dividend earned on these financial assets.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-
instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. Designation at fair value through other comprehensive income is not 
permitted if the equity investment is held for trading.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

– it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

– on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are 
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

– it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or a 
financial guarantee.

Investments in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value 
with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of a financial 
asset that is classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit 
or loss, but is reclassified directly to retained profits/accumulated losses.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss, unless 
the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

(b) Derecognition of financial assets

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when, and only when, the contractual rights to receive cash 
flows from the financial assets expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of ownership have been transferred. Details of which are set out in note 2(f)(a).

(g) Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets measured at amortised cost are reviewed to determine whether 
there is any objective evidence of impairment. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there 
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets includes observable data that comes to the 
attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor or counterparty; or

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

– it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial re-organisation; or

– the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed for impairment 
on collective basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as 
observable changes in notional or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the amount of impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment 
loss decrease and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result 
in a carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss of the period in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment losses on doubtful receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote, are 
recorded using an allowance account. When the Group considered that recovery of receivables is remote, 
the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against the receivables directly and any amounts held 
in the allowance account in respect of that receivable are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in 
the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are recognised in 
profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on 
a weighted-average basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable 
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. 
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of 
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks, other financial 
institutions and securities brokers, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within 
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral 
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities.

(j) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. 
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the 
Company’s own equity instruments.

(ii) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts due to related parties, amounts due 
to non-controlling interests and borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liabilities for at least one year after the end of reporting period.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

(k) Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.

(l) Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes 
in fair value of the derivative instruments are recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is 
designated and effective as a hedging instrument. The Group does not have any hedging instrument at any 
time during the year or at the end of reporting period.

A derivative with positive fair value is recognised as financial asset through profit or loss and a derivative with 
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability through profit or loss.

(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current 
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the 
relevant amounts of the tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, being 
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(m) Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. 
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, 
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are 
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference 
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The 
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the 
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are 
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected 
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences 
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and associates to the extent that, in the case of taxable 
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will 
reverse in the future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related 
tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from each 
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets 
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or the Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group or the Company intends either to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either;

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax 
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(n) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost 
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(o) Retirement benefit costs and short term employee benefit

(i) Retirement benefits costs

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through a defined contribution plan. The Group 
operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory 
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong 
Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF 
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the 
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. 
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to 
the end of the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised 
until the time of leave.

(iii) Share-based employee compensation

The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation plans for remuneration of its employees.

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair 
value of services received is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the 
date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding 
increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised 
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding 
adjustment to share option reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted 
is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will 
be transferred to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still 
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be 
transferred to accumulated losses.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due 
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

•	 the	 amount	 of	 the	 obligation	 under	 the	 contract,	 as	 determined	 in	 accordance	 with	 HKAS	 37	
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; and

•	 the	 amount	 initially	 recognised	 less,	 where	 appropriate,	 cumulative	 amortisation	 recognised	 in	
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

(ii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal 
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time 
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to 
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow 
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(q) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, 
rebates, discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the 
Group’s activities as described below.

(i) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised upon transfer of the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the customer. 
This is usually taken as the time when the goods are delivered and the customer has accepted the 
goods and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

(ii) Interest income

Interest income for all interest-bearing financial instruments is recognised in profit or loss on an 
accrual basis using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and 
of allocating the interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Interest income (Continued)

For impaired loans, the accrual of interest income based on the original terms of the loan is 
discontinued, but any increase in the present value of impaired loans due to the passage of time is 
reported as interest income.

(iii) Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease; and

(iv) Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established prior to 
the end of reporting period.

(r) Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “Functional Currency”). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD” or “HK$”), which is 
the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
arise except for:

•	 exchange	 differences	 on	 foreign	 currency	 borrowings	 relating	 to	 assets	 under	 construction	 for	
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as 
an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

•	 exchange	 differences	 on	 transactions	 entered	 into	 in	 order	 to	 hedge	 certain	 foreign	 currency	
risks; and

•	 exchange	 differences	 on	 monetary	 items	 receivable	 from	 or	 payable	 to	 a	 foreign	 operation	
for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net 
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive 
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(s) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment i tem reported in the consolidated f inancial 
statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior 
executive management for the purposes of allocating recourses to, and assessing the performance of, the 
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of the products 
and services, the nature of the production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used 
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating 
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

(t) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or a joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or a joint venture 
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, 
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u) Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the 
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must 
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 
of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:-

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

3. Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued the following new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting 
period of the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 16 and 

HKAS 38
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16 and 
HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Amendments to HKFRS 10  
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s 
financial performance and positions for the current and prior year and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Certain key assumptions and risk factors in respect of the financial risk management are set out in note 34. Other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are set out as follows:

(a) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes only in Hong Kong. Significant judgement is required in determining 
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(b) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the losses can be utilised.  Significant judgement is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future 
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

The Group has tax loss carried forward amounting to approximately HK$18,861,000 (2016: HK$23,536,000).  
Further details are disclosed in note 12.

(c) Impairment of loans and advances to customers and trade receivables

The policy for impairment of loan receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and 
ageing analysis of the loans and advances to customers and on management’s judgements. A considerable 
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of loans and advances to these 
customers, if applicable, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each 
customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment 
of their ability to make payments, additional allowance for impairment may be required.

Provision for impairment of trade receivables is assessed and made based on the management’s regular 
review of ageing analysis and evaluation of collectibility. A considerable level of judgement is exercised by 
management when assessing the credit worthiness and past collection history of each individual customer. 
Any increase or decrease in such provision would affect the Group’s profit or loss in future years.

As at 31st March, 2017, the carrying amount of the Group’s loans and advances to customers and 
trade receivable were HK$400,167,000 and HK$18,354,000 (2016: HK$382,341,000 and HK$3,852,000) 
respectively. Further details are disclosed in notes 21 and 19, respectively.

5. Revenue and segment information
(a) Revenue

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from money lending 75,571 72,357
   

Retail sales of grocery products, coupon and frozen food 18,546 9,992
Wholesale of grocery products and frozen food 87,493 37,167
   

Revenue from sale of goods 106,039 47,159
   

181,610 119,516
   



Annual Report 2017 57Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited

5. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b) Segment information

The chief operating decision makers have been identified as the executive directors of the Company (the 
“Executive Directors”). The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess 
performance and allocate resources. Management determined the operating segments based on these 
reports.

Management assesses the performance based on the nature of the Group’s businesses which are principally 
located in Hong Kong, and comprises (i) money lending; and (ii) groceries, frozen food and coupons retail 
and groceries and frozen food wholesale business. The retail business and wholesale business have been 
combined in the year ended 31st March, 2017 as the Executive Directors considered the nature of these 
businesses to be similar. The financial instruments and quoted shares investment business is not reported 
to the Executive Directors during the year ended 31st March, 2017 due to the Group has scaled down the 
investment business.

Comparative information for the Group’s operating segments have been restated as a result of these changes 
in the composition of the Group’s reportable and operating segments.

Segment results represent the profit/( loss) generated by each segment without al location of central 
administration costs, investment and other income, other gains and losses, finance costs, share of results 
of associates and taxation. This is the measure reported to the Executive Directors for the purposes of 
resources allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets include all assets, other than unallocated corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all 
liabilities, other than unallocated corporate liabilities, current and deferred tax liabilities.

(c) Segment results, assets and liabilities

Money lending Retail and wholesale Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Reportable segment revenue from external 
customers 75,571 72,357 106,039 47,159 181,610 119,516

       

Reportable segment profit/(loss) before 
taxation 49,371 54,275 (2,102) 214 47,269 54,489

       

Depreciation 301 – 1,293 238 1,594 238
Impairment losses on trade receivables – – 93 – 93 –
Impairment losses on loans and advances to 

customers, net 321 2,084 – – 321 2,084
Bad debts recovery (279) (2,904) – – (279) (2,904)

Reportable segment assets 417,352 399,015 43,310 21,383 460,662 420,398
       

Additions to non-current segment assets
 – other capital expenditure 483 410 1,703 5,274 2,186 5,684

Reportable segment liabilities 4,537 807 8,133 4,280 12,670 5,087
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5. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(d) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit before taxation, assets and liabilities

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Revenue

Reportable segment revenue and consolidated revenue 181,610 119,516
   

  
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Profit before taxation
Reportable segment profit before taxation 47,269 54,489
Unallocated head office corporate expenses (11,400) (19,325)
Investment and other income 526 3,388
Other gains and losses, net (3,412) (194)
Share of results of associates (145) (339)
Finance costs (1,728) (1,780)
Impairment loss on amount due from an associate – (2,035)
Write-off of amount due from a related party – (262)
   

Consolidated profit before taxation 31,110 33,942
   

 
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Asset
Reportable segment assets 460,662 420,398
Unallocated corporate assets 54,045 67,396
   

Consolidated total assets 514,707 487,794
   

  
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities 12,670 5,087
Unallocated corporate liabilities 11,766 19,631
   

Consolidated total liabilities 24,436 24,718
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5. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(e) Information about major customers

No single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31st March, 2017 
and 2016.

(f) Geographical information

All of the Group’s operations and assets are located in Hong Kong, in which all of its revenue was derived.

6. Investment and other income
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income from  
– bank balances 5 71
– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 958

Dividend income from
– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 95 421

Rental income from letting of
– office premises 96 36
– office equipment 53 53

Production project service income – 1,635
Others 277 214
   

526 3,388
   

7. Other gains and losses, net
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net – (297)
Exchange losses, net – (495)
Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net (3,432) 598
Others 20 –
   

(3,412) (194)
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8. Profit before taxation
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:
Auditors’ remuneration 600 480
Advertising expense 2,018 2,685
Commission expense 3,662 2,961
Impairment loss on trade receivables 93 –
Impairment loss on amount due from an associate – 2,035
Write-off of an amount due from a related party – 262
Minimum lease payments in respect of operating lease of land and buildings 4,196 5,517
Employee benefit expenses (note 10(a)) 24,638 19,073
   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– Owned assets 4,628 1,982
– Held under a finance lease 194 194

   

4,822 2,176
   

Carrying amount of inventories sold 91,446 41,260
Write-down of inventories 413 –
   

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 91,859 41,260
   

9. Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
Pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies (Disclosure of Information 
about Benefit of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and the GEM Listing Rules, the remuneration paid or payable to 
each of the six (2016: five) directors of the Company is set out below:

For the year ended 31st March, 2017
Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit
and benefits scheme

Fees in kind contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors
Mr. SHIU Yeuk Yuen, the Chief Executive – 1,637 – 1,637
Mr. LEUNG Ge On, Andy – 579 18 597
     

– 2,216 18 2,234
     

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. SIU Yim Kwan, Sidney 100 – – 100
Mr. LAU Gar Hung, Christopher (note) 25 – – 25
Mr. KAM Tik Lun 100 – – 100
Mr. HO Siu King, Stanley (note) 75 – – 75
     

300 – – 300
     

Total emoluments 300 2,216 18 2,534
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9. Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration paid or payable to each of the six (2016: five) directors of the Company is set out below: 
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st March, 2016
Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit
and benefits scheme

Fees in kind contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors
Mr. SHIU Yeuk Yuen, the Chief Executive – 2,114 – 2,114
Mr. LEUNG Ge On, Andy – 688 18 706
     

– 2,802 18 2,820
     

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. SIU Yim Kwan, Sidney 100 – – 100
Mr. LAU Gar Hung, Christopher (note) 100 – – 100
Mr. KAM Tik Lun 100 – – 100
     

300 – – 300
     

Total emoluments 300 2,802 18 3,120
     

Except as disclosed above, there was no remuneration paid to other directors of the Company for the years ended 
31st March, 2017 and 2016.

During the year, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors of the Company as an inducement to 
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2016: nil).

None of the directors of the Company has waived any emoluments during the year (2016: none).

“Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind” paid to or for the executive directors are generally emoluments paid 
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 
Company and its subsidiaries.

Note: The independent non-executive director, Mr. LAU Gar Hung, Christopher, resigned on 30th June, 2016 and Mr. HO Siu King, 
Stanley was appointed as the independent non-executive director on 1st July, 2016.
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10. Employee benefit expense
(a) Total employee benefit expenses

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration) (note 9)
– Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind 23,763 18,538
– Retirement benefit scheme contributions 875 535

   

24,638 19,073
   

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2016: two) were directors of the 
Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 9 above. The emoluments payable to the 
remaining three (2016: three) individuals in which all of them (2016: all of them) were senior management 
during the year are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,831 3,070
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 36 36
   

2,867 3,106
   

The emoluments of the highest paid three (2016: three) individuals for the year fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2017 2016

Emolument bands
Nil - HK$1,000,000 3 2
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 – 1
   

3 3
   

11. Finance costs
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expenses on:
Bank loan and overdrafts 1 144
Other borrowings 1,723 1,628

   

1,724 1,772
Finance charge on obligation under a finance lease 4 8
   

Total interest expenses for financial liabilities that are 
 not at fair value through profit or loss 1,728 1,780
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12. Income tax expense
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax: Hong Kong
– Charge for the year 4,713 823
– Under-provision in prior years – 120

   

Income tax expense 4,713 943
   

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31st March, 2017 is calculated at 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) 
of the estimated assessable profits for the year, taking into account a reduction granted by the Hong Kong SAR 
Government of 75% of the tax payable for the year of assessment 2016-17 subject to a maximum reduction of 
HK$20,000 for each subsidiary.

No income tax expense in relation to any component of other comprehensive income for the years ended 31st March, 
2017 and 2016 was included in other comprehensive income.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 31,110 33,942
   

Tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the domestic  
income tax rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) 5,133 5,601

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (93) (87)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 448 989
Tax effect of unused tax loss not recognised 179 476
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (942) (7,485)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 50 1,313
Tax effect of share of results of associates 24 56
Statutory tax concession (86) (40)
Under-provision of income tax in prior years – 120
   

Income tax expenses 4,713 943
   

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$18,861,000 (2016: 
HK$23,536,000) available for offset against future profits. The tax losses do not expire under current legislation. 
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit 
streams.
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12. Income tax expense (Continued)

The Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (the “IRD”) initiated tax inquiries for the years of assessment 2009/10 to 
2014/15 on a subsidiary of the Group. Protective assessments for additional taxes of HK$292,000 and HK$293,000 
were issued by the IRD on 22nd April, 2016 and 6th December, 2016, respectively.

The Group had lodged objection with the IRD against the additional taxes of HK$292,000 and HK$293,000 in respect 
of the years of assessment 2009/10 and 2010/11 respectively.

The IRD agreed to hold over the tax claims for the years of assessment 2009/10 and 2010/11, amounts held over 
on the condition that tax reserve certificates in the amounts of HK$292,000 and HK$293,000 were purchased on 
4th May, 2016 and 24th January, 2017 respectively. As at 31st March, 2017, the Group has cumulatively purchased 
the tax reserve certificates of HK$585,000, such amount is included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables 
(note 20).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the IRD has issued a revised notice of assessment to that subsidiary 
for the year of assessment 2009/10, which stated that there are no profits chargeable to Hong Kong Profit Tax. 
The tax previously held over conditionally for the year of assessment 2009/10 is completely discharged and the tax 
reserve certificate in the amount of HK$292,000 can be redeemed in accordance with the redemption instructions.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the subsidiary has valid grounds to support the tax computation 
submitted, hence, the payment of the additional taxes for the years of assessment 2010/11 to 2014/15 is not 
probable and thereto, no provision for any tax liabilities from the assessments, that may result, has been made.

13. Earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 26,315 32,922
   

2017 2016

Number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
for the purpose of basic earnings per share 220,157,642 220,219,354

   

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016 were the same as the basic earnings per 
share as there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding for both years.



Annual Report 2017 65Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited

14. Property, plant and equipment
Furniture Motor

Leasehold and vehicles
improvements Equipment fixtures and ship Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1st April, 2015 1,872 1,575 1,072 1,838 6,357
Additions 3,563 2,405 1,312 952 8,232
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 32) – – – 12,442 12,442
Disposal/written off (351) – (239) – (590)
      

At 31st March, 2016 and 1st April, 2016 5,084 3,980 2,145 15,232 26,441
Additions 655 1,452 484 511 3,102
      

At 31st March, 2017 5,739 5,432 2,629 15,743 29,543
      

Accumulated depreciation

At 1st April, 2015 746 614 368 435 2,163
Charge for the year 532 480 360 804 2,176
Written back on disposal/written off (167) – (126) – (293)
      

At 31st March, 2016 and 1st April, 2016 1,111 1,094 602 1,239 4,046
Charge for the year 1,102 1,073 480 2,167 4,822
      

At 31st March, 2017 2,213 2,167 1,082 3,406 8,868
      

Carrying amounts:

At 31st March, 2017 3,526 3,265 1,547 12,337 20,675
      

At 31st March, 2016 3,973 2,886 1,543 13,993 22,395
      

Note: The net book value of office equipment held under finance lease was approximately HK$97,000 (2016: HK$291,000).
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15. Interests in associates
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 15,108 1,890
Share of post-acquisition losses (2,035) (1,890)
   

13,073 –
   

Amounts due from associates (note (i)) 16,534 15,472
Allowance for impairment (14,635) (14,635)
   

1,899 837
   

Notes:

(i) The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due from associates of approximately HK$14,635,000 (2016: HK$14,635,000) were impaired. The amount of 
allowance for impairment was approximately HK$14,635,000 as at 31st March, 2017 (2016: HK$14,635,000). The individually 
impaired receivables mainly relate to associates which have going concern issues and they are of age over three years. The 
remaining amounts due from associates do not contain impaired assets.

(ii) The movements in allowance for impairment of the amounts due from associates are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at the beginning of year 14,635 12,600
Impairment losses charged to profit or loss – 2,035
   

Balance at the end of year 14,635 14,635
   

(iii) Particulars of the Group’s interests in the Group’s material associates at 31st March, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of associates
Class of
shares held

Particulars of
paid up capital

Group’s
effective interest

Held by
a subsidiary

Principal
activities

Place of
incorporation
and operations

2017 2016 2017 2016
% % % %

KCL Ordinary HK$100 
(2016: N/A)

22.00 – 22.00 – Operation of 
a vehicles 
examination 
centre

Hong Kong

HL Ordinary US$15,000 
(2016: N/A)

13.35 – 22.25 – Online marketing British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

The investment in KCL enables the Group to have exposure to diversified business.

HL and its subsidiaries are strategic partners for the Group as they complement the retail and wholesale business.

All of the above associates are unlisted and accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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15. Interests in associates (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv) Summarised financial information of the material associates, reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements, is disclosed below:

KCL HL
2017 2016 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross amounts of the associates
Non-current assets – – 1,790 –
Current assets 29,030 – 10,115 –
Current liabilities (652) – (2,144) –
Non-current liabilities – – – –
Equity 28,378 – 9,761 –

Revenue 11,331 – 1,214 –
Profit/(loss) for the year and  

total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 132 – (1,302) –

Reconciled to the Group’s interests in the associates
Gross amounts of net assets of the associates 28,378 – 9,761 –
Group’s effective interest 22% – 13.35% –
Group’s share of net assets of the associates 6,243 – 1,303 –
Goodwill – – 5,523 –
     

Carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements 6,243 – 6,826 –
     

(v) Aggregate financial information of individually immaterial associates is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial associates 
in the consolidated financial statements 4 –

   

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of those associates’ loss for the year – (339)
Other comprehensive income for the year – –
   

Total comprehensive loss for the year – (339)
   

(vi) The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses of certain associates.

The amounts of unrecognised share of those associates, extracted from the relevant management accounts of the associates, 
both for the year and cumulatively, are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unrecognised share of losses of associates for the year 916 787
   

Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of associates 2,782 1,866
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16. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities:
– listed in Hong Kong (notes (i)(a) and (ii)) 8,361 7,813

Equity investment funds
– unlisted (notes (i)(b) and (ii)) – 1,000

   

Total 8,361 8,813
   

Note:

(i) (a) As at 31st March, 2017, the Group held 27,414,368 (2016: 13,707,184) issued ordinary shares of HMV Digital China 
Group Limited (formerly known as China 3D Digital Entertainment Limited) (“HMV Digital”). The principal activities of 
HMV Digital and its subsidiaries are mainly artiste management services, music production and production of films 
and television programmes. These shares are not held for trading and the Group has chosen to designate these 
equity instruments as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group intends to hold 
the investment for the medium to long-term as a strategic investment.

(b) As at 31st March, 2017 and 2016, the equity investment funds represented the Group’s equity investment in China 
Real Estate Development II (Cayman) Limited (“China Real”), an unlisted company involved in investing private equity 
real estate development projects in the People’s Republic of China.

During the year, due to the acceptance of a buyout offer for the unsold development properties under the fund, the 
fund entered into the liquidation process which is expected to be completed after the fourth quarter of 2017. The fund 
has made distribution out of the buyout offer proceeds and only cash for estimated expenses for the liquidation was 
retained in the fund. Therefore the fair value of the fund has been determined to be nil.

Commitment of the Group in respect of capital contribution in the equity investment funds amounted to approximately 
HK$542,000 as at 31st March, 2017 and 2016.

(ii) The fair values of the listed equity securities are based on the quoted market bid prices available on the stock exchange and 
the fair value of the unlisted equity investment fund is based on the fund net asset value as reported from the fund at the end 
of the reporting period.

(iii) As at 31st March, 2017, certain listed equity securities with an aggregate fair value of approximately HK$7,293,000 (2016: 
HK$6,815,000) were pledged as collateral to securities brokers for margin financing granted to the Group. As at 31st March, 
2017 and 2016, no margin financing was utilised by the Group.



Annual Report 2017 69Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited

17. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities
– Hong Kong (notes (i) and (iv)) 9,700 19,152

   

Derivatives not designated as effective hedging instruments
– Investment in listed warrants (notes (i) and (ii)) – 4

   

– 4
   

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9,700 19,156
   

Notes:

(i) The fair values of listed equity securities are determined by reference to their quoted market prices at the end of the reporting 
period. The fair values of the listed warrants are determined by reference to their closing prices at the end of the reporting 
period as the derivatives are traded either on exchange or liquid over-the-counter markets.

(ii) In the course of the Group’s normal trading in listed warrants, margin deposit of cash is held by the Group’s securities broker. 
As at 31st March, 2017, there was no margin deposit included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables (note 20) 
(2016: HK$158,000).

(iii) As at 31st March, 2017, certain listed equity securities and warrants, whose aggregate fair value was approximately 
HK$9,700,000 (2016: HK$17,084,000), were pledged as collateral to securities brokers for margin financing granted to the 
Group.

As at 31st March, 2017 and 2016, no margin financing was utilised by the Group.

(iv) The trading of listed equity securities with carrying amount of HK$3,500,000 as at 31st March, 2017 has been suspended 
since 3rd April, 2017 up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.

The market value of the remaining listed equity securities at the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements 
was approximately HK$4,600,000.

18. Inventories
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Merchandise, at cost 12,356 7,026
   

19. Trade receivables
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables
– an associate 2,971 1,310
– third parties 15,476 2,542

Allowance for impairment (93) –
   

Trade receivables 18,354 3,852
   

The Group maintains credit terms of cash on delivery for retail sales for both years ended 31st March, 2017 
and 2016. The credit term for certain wholesale customers is 30 to 90 days from the date of billing for the years 
ended 31st March, 2017 and 31st March, 2016. The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit 
enhancements over the trade receivables.
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19. Trade receivables (Continued)

(a) Ageing analysis

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the invoiced dates is 
as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within three months 12,236 1,944
Over three months and within one year 3,425 1,433
Over one year 2,693 475
   

18,354 3,852
   

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

The movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year – –
Impairment losses charged to profit or loss (note 8) 93 –
   

Balance at the end of the year 93 –
   

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables are allowances for individually impaired 
trade receivables of HK$93,000 (2016: nil). The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers 
who did not make any settlement during the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016.

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be 
impaired are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 11,054 427
   

Within three months past due 1,399 1,798
Over three months but within one year past due 3,419 1,152
Over one year 2,482 475
   

7,300 3,425
   

18,354 3,852
   

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number of customers for whom there 
was no recent history of default. Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of 
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors 
of the Company believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has 
not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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20. Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits 2,674 990
Prepayments 1,458 976
Other receivables (note (iii)) 1,652 409
   

5,784 2,375
   

Notes:

(i) As at 31st March, 2017 and 2016, the balances of prepayments, deposits and other receivables were expected to be 
recovered within one year from the end of the reporting period and hence were classified as current assets.

(ii) In the opinion of the directors of the Company, deposits, prepayments and other receivables are neither past due nor 
impaired.

(iii) An amount of HK$860,000 paid to the existing shareholder of an associate for the investment as disclosed in note 36 was 
included in other receivables. The tax reserve certificate purchased by the Group amounting to HK$585,000 as disclosed in 
note 12 was included in other receivables.

21. Loans and advances to customers
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans and advances to customers 407,582 389,435
Allowance for impairment (7,415) (7,094)
   

400,167 382,341
   

Analysed for reporting purpose as:
Current portion 232,864 185,993
Non-current portion 167,303 196,348
   

400,167 382,341
   

As a t  31s t  March,  2017,  loans and advances to cus tomers o f  approx imate ly HK$125,541,000 (2016: 
HK$154,592,000) and HK$30,189,000 (2016: nil) are secured by the customers’ pledged properties and listed equity 
securities respectively. As at 31st March, 2017, total market value of the customers’ pledged properties as collaterals 
for these loans and advances to customers was approximately HK$154,540,000 (2016: HK$220,600,000) and the fair 
value of pledged listed equity securities was HK$105,958,000 (2016: nil) as at the end of the reporting period.
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21. Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

All loans and advances to customers are denominated in HK$. The Group’s loans and advances to customers related 
to a large number of diversified customers and details of concentration of credit risk are disclosed in note 34(b). The 
loans and advances to customers carry fixed effective interest rate as follows with credit terms mutually agreed with 
the customers:

Effective interest rate
Types of loan 2017 2016

Secured loan with properties 8% – 24% 8% – 13%
Secured loan with listed equity securities 13% –
Unsecured loan 2% – 53% 2% – 48%

(a) The maturity profile of loans and advances to customers net of allowance for impairment loss at the end of 
reporting period, analysed by the remaining periods to their contractual maturity dates is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 232,864 185,993
Over one year but within five years 54,761 193,735
Over five years 112,542 2,613
   

400,167 382,341
   

(b) The movements in allowance for impairment of loans and advances to customers:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at the beginning of year 7,094 6,899
Impairment losses charged to profit or loss 635 2,459
Impairment losses reversed to profit or loss (314) (375)
Uncollectible amounts written off – (1,889)
   

Balance at the end of year 7,415 7,094
   

Recovery of loans and advances to customers directly 
written off in previous years (279) (2,904)

   

Included in the above provision for impairment of loans and advances to customers are allowances for 
individually impaired loans and advances to customers of HK$6,044,000 (2016: HK$6,103,000). The 
individually impaired receivables related to customers that were in financial difficulties or customers that were 
in default or delinquency in interest or principal payments and only a portion of the receivables is expected to 
be recovered.
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21. Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(c) Loans and advances to customers disclosed in note (a) above include amounts of HK$38,847,000 (2016: 
HK$17,848,000) which are past due but not impaired.

Loans and advances to customers past due but not impaired:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Past due within 6 months 23,974 12,220
Past due 6 to 12 months 7,924 5,628
Past due over 1 year 6,949 –
   

38,847 17,848
   

The Group has not made impairment on these loans and advances to customers because, in the opinion 
of directors of the Company, there is either no significant change in credit quality of the customers or 
sufficient collaterals to recover the outstanding loans receivables, therefore the amounts are still considered 
recoverable.

(d) The Group’s loans and advances to customers of approximately HK$361,320,000 (2016: HK$364,493,000) 
that are neither past due nor impaired mainly represented loans granted to creditworthy customers for whom 
there was no recent history of default or secured by the collaterals which the value was higher than the 
carrying value of the loans and advances to customers.

22. Pledged bank deposits
The pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$1,014,000 (2016: HK$1,010,000) carry interest at the rate of 0.42% 
(2016: 0.40%) per annum with maturity period of three months (2016: three months). As at 31st March, 2017 and 
2016, the above bank deposits have been pledged to banks to secure bank guarantee and other general banking 
facilities granted to the Group.

23. Cash and cash equivalents
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term bank deposit (note) 1,000 –
Cash at bank, security brokers and on hand 22,324 39,989
   

Cash and cash equivalents 23,324 39,989
   

Note: Short-term bank deposit as at 31st March, 2017 carries interest at the rate of 0.1% per annum with a maturity of 90 days.
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24. Trade and other payables
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 6,439 2,337
Other payables and accruals (note) 3,929 2,901
Receipts in advance 373 339
   

10,741 5,577
   

Note: As at 31 March 2017, consideration payable for acquisition of interest in an associate amounting to HK$2,000,000 was 
included in other payables and accruals.

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as income within one year or are 
repayable on demand.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payable (which are included in trade and other 
payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 4,803 2,252
31 – 90 days 848 55
91 – 365 days 788 30
   

6,439 2,337
   

25. Borrowings
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other loan – unsecured
– repayable within one year 5,000 7,000

   

The other loan is denominated in HK$ and is borrowed from an independent third party. The loan is unsecured, 
interest-bearing at the rate of 10% (2016: 10%) per annum and repayable within one year.

The maturity profile of the borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements is as 
follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 5,000 7,000
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26. Obligation under a finance lease
At 31st March, 2017 and 2016, the Group had obligation under a finance lease payable as follows:

2017 2016
Present Finance Present Finance

value charge Total value charge Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$f’000

Within one year 105 1 106 207 4 211
After one year but within five years – – – 105 1 106
       

105 1 106 312 5 317
       

The Group leased an office equipment under finance lease arrangement (note 14). The lease term was five years 
(2016: five years). At the end of the lease term, the Group has an option to purchase the equipment at a price 
deemed to be a bargain purchase option. The lease does not include contingent rentals. The lease equipment 
secures the above lease obligation.

Financial lease obligation is denominated in HK$.

27. Capital, reserves and dividends
(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated 
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Share capital

Number of shares HK$’000

Authorised ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each:
At 1st April, 2015, 31st March, 2016, 1st April, 2016 and 

31st March, 2017
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 30,000,000,000 300,000
   

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each:
At 1st April, 2015, 31st March, 2016 and 1st April, 2016 220,219,354 2,202
Cancellation of shares (note) (125,000) (1)
   

At 31st March, 2017 220,094,354 2,201
   

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with each other.

Note: The Company acquired 125,000 of its own shares through purchases on the Stock Exchange from 28th September, 
2016 to 4th October, 2016, which have been cancelled during the year ended 31st March, 2017. The total 
amount paid to acquire the shares was HK$88,000 and has been deducted from capital redemption reserve within 
shareholders’ equity.
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27. Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

(c) Reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of share premium account is governed by section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of 
Bermuda.

(ii) Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve arose on the cancellation of repurchased shares and accordingly reduction 
of nominal value of share capital of the Company.

(iii) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents (i) the difference between the nominal value of the shares of subsidiaries 
acquired and the nominal value of shares issued by the Company as consideration thereof pursuant 
to the reorganisation and (ii) the difference between the consideration paid/received to obtain/release 
non-controlling interests in certain subsidiaries and their respective carrying amount on the date of 
acquisition or disposal.

(iv) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve represents the cumulative net change in fair value of financial 
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income since initial recognition.

(v) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus represents the reduction of issued share capital.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus account of the Company is 
available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a 
distribution out of the contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for believing that: (i) the 
Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii) the 
realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and 
its issued share capital and the share premium account.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general meeting held on 23rd March, 2016, 
the directors are authorised to apply any credit balance in the contributed surplus account of the 
Company in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company and all applicable laws. The directors of the 
Company resolved to set-off and eliminate the accumulated losses of the Company in the amount of 
approximately HK$75,112,000 with the contributed surplus account.

(d) Dividend

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31st March, 2017 nor has any dividend been 
proposed since the end of reporting period (2016: Nil).
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28. Share-based compensation
The shareholders of the Company approved a share option scheme (the “2001 Share Option Scheme”) under which 
its board of the directors may, as its discretion, offer full-time or part time employees and executive, non-executive 
and independent non-executive directors of the Company and/or any its subsidiaries, options to subscribe for shares 
in the Company. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme 
shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company. The subscription price will be determined by the 
Company’s board of directors and will be the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares, (ii) the quoted closing 
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the options, and (iii) the average of the quoted closing prices 
of the Company’s shares on the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options. The 2001 
Share Option Scheme become effective on 24th September, 2001 was terminated by shareholders of the Company 
on 4th January, 2011.

An ordinary resolution was passed by the shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company held on 4th 
January, 2011 to adopt a new share option scheme (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) and terminate the 2001 Share 
Option Scheme.

The purpose of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant share options to the participants as 
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

Eligible participants of the 2011 Share Option Scheme (“Eligible Participants”) include (i) any full-time employees 
of the Group and Directors (including Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive 
Directors) of the Company; (ii) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any entity in which 
any member of the Group holds an equity interest (the “Invested Entity”); (iii) any customer of any member of the 
Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological 
support to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any 
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vi) any 
adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business development of any member of 
the Group or any Invested Entity; and (vii) any other group or classes of Eligible Participants who have contributed 
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to the development and 
growth of the Group.

The 2011 Share Option Scheme became effective on 4th January, 2011 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, 
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of share options permitted to be granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme is an amount 
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date of approval of the 2011 
Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of share issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the 2011 Share Option 
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further 
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to 
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate 
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, which any 
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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28. Share-based compensation (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer, upon payment of 
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is 
determinable by the directors of the Company, and commences after a vesting period and ends on a date which is 
not later than ten years from the date of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors of the Company, but shall not be less than the 
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on 
the date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the 
nominal value of the Company’s share. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at 
shareholders’ meetings.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation 
to repurchase or settle the options.

During the year ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016, no option under the 2011 Share Option Scheme has been 
granted by the Company, therefore there is no option outstanding at 31st March, 2017 and 2016.

For the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016, no employee compensation expense has been included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. No liabilities are recognised due to the share-based payment 
transactions.

29. Transactions and balances with related parties
(a) Key management compensation

During both years, compensation of key management personnel represents directors’ remuneration and those 
of senior staff as stated in notes 9 and 10 respectively. The directors’ remuneration is determined by the 
remuneration committee having regard to the performance, responsibilities and experience of individuals and 
market trends.

(b) Financing arrangements

Amounts owed
to the Group

by related parties
As at 31st March,

Amounts owed by
the Group to related parties

As at 31st March,

Related interest
income/(expense)

For the year ended
31st March,

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Loan to a subsidiary of a substantial 
shareholder

(ii),(v)
– 4,885 – – – 646

Amount due from/(to) associates (iii) 1,899 837 (28) – – –

Loans from close family members of 
a director

(i),(iv)
– – (2,200) (10,200) (1,394) (928)

Amounts due from/(to) 
non-controlling interests

(iii)
– – (852) (746) – –
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29. Transactions and balances with related parties (Continued)

(b) Financing arrangements (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The balances due to certain family members of an executive director of the Company are unsecured, interest bearing 
at 10% per annum and repayable on demand.

(ii) Pursuant to a loan participation agreement entered into between a subsidiary of the Company and a subsidiary of a 
substantial shareholder on 14th December, 2015, the Group has granted HK$9,999,990 for participating in a loan to a 
third party. The loan to a subsidiary of a substantial shareholder is unsecured, interest bearing at 33% per annum and 
repayable on demand. The amount was fully repaid on 23rd May, 2016.

(iii) All other balances due to/from the Group are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(iv) The related party transactions in respect of the financial assistance received from close family members of an 
executive director constitutes continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. 
However, those transactions are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules 
as the transactions are on normal commercial terms and no security over the assets of the Company is granted in 
respect of such financial assistance.

(v) The related party transactions in respect of the financial assistance provided to a subsidiary of a substantial 
shareholder constitutes connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The disclosures 
required by Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules are provided in the directors’ report.

(c) Performance guarantee provided

During the year ended 31st March, 2017, the Company provided performance guarantee for KCL regarding 
the management, operation and maintenance of a vehicle examination center. The letter of guarantee 
contains no specific amount and will terminate in May 2019. A counter-guarantee of 78% of the guarantee 
liability was provided by a shareholder of one of the shareholders of the associate.
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29. Transactions and balances with related parties (Continued)

(d) Other related party transactions

The Group had significant transactions with the following related parties during the year:

Related party Transaction amount
relationship Type of transaction 2017 2016

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Directors Sales of groceries products (ii) 100 –

Close family members of 
a director

Sales of groceries products (ii) 12 49

Companies controlled or Rental income from letting
 jointly controlled by – office premises (ii) 36 36
 the directors or their – office equipment (ii) 53 53
 close family members

Subsidiaries of a substantial 
shareholder

Sales of groceries products (ii) 23 104

Assignment of loan from 
the Group (iii)

6,795 –

Assignment of loan to the Group (iv) – 9,861

Share of rental and mutual 
guarantee of contingent 
rental liabilities 31

1,950 1,611

Associate Sales of groceries products 1,923 2,118

Purchase of groceries products 175 343

Consultancy fee expense 868 –

Non-controlling interests Purchase of groceries products (v) – 935

Notes:

(i) The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above transactions were entered into at terms agreed by 
both parties and the terms of the transactions were determined by the directors with reference to the terms of similar 
transactions with unrelated third parties.

(ii) The related party transactions in respect of the sales and purchase of groceries products and frozen food products 
and rental income above constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in 
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. However, those transactions are exempt from the disclosure requirements in 
Chapter 20 of the Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis threshold under Rule 20.74(1)(c) of the GEM listing 
Rules.

(iii) For the year ended 31st March, 2017, the related party transaction in respect of the loans with principal amount 
of approximately HK$6,400,000 assigned to a subsidiary of a substantial shareholder at a consideration of 
approximately HK$6,795,000 after taking into account the interest receivables accrued to the loans constitutes 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 20 of 
the GEM Listing Rules are provided in the report of the directors.

(iv) For the year ended 31st March, 2016, the related party transaction in respect of the loans with principal amount 
of approximately HK$9,770,000 assigned from a subsidiary of a substantial shareholder at a consideration of 
approximately HK$9,861,000 after taking into account the interest receivables accrued to the loans constitutes 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 20 of 
the GEM Listing Rules are provided in the directors’ report.

(v) The related party transactions in respect of the sales and purchase of groceries products constitute continuing 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules as the non-controlling shareholder is a 
connected person at subsidiary level. The disclosures required by Chapter 20 of the Gem Listing Rules are provided 
in the directors’ report.

(vi) Except as disclosed above and elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, there were no other significant 
related party transactions with related parties during the year or significant balances with them at the end of the year.
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30. Commitments
(a) Capital commitments

Saved as those disclosed in note 16, the Group does not have any other significant capital commitments as at 
31st March, 2017 and 2016.

(b) Operating lease commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 4,702 5,442
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2,223 3,663
   

6,925 9,105
   

The Group leases a number of premises under operating leases, with original terms ranging from 1 to 3 years. 
Two of the leases have options to renew the leases after the date at which time all terms are renegotiated. 
The leases do not include any contingent rentals.

31. Contingent liabilities
(a) Contingent rental liabilities

On 20th October, 2015, the Group and Mark Glory International Enterprise Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of HMV Digital has jointly entered into a tenancy agreement in relation to the lease of an office premises 
as a joint tenant for two years commencing 1st November, 2015. If either party fails to fulfill their leasing 
obligations under the agreement, the other party will obligate to pay the other party’s outstanding contingent 
rental liability. The guarantee of the contingent rental liability constitutes a continuing connected transaction 
as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 20 of the GEM 
Listing Rules are provided in the directors’ report.

During the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016, both parties have made appropriate operating lease 
payment under the lease. No outstanding contingent rental liability is required to be paid by the Group under 
the lease for the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016. The maximum exposure of the Group in the 
remaining lease term amounted to approximately HK$1,180,000.

(b) Performance guarantee granted

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has provided performance guarantee to an associate (note 
29(c)). As at 31st March, 2017, the directors of the Company do not consider it probable that a claim will be 
made against the Group under the guarantee.
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32. Acquisition of a subsidiary
Acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition of a subsidiary

On 16th June, 2015, the Group acquired 45% of the share capital of Vision Lion for a consideration of HK$5,850,000. 
On 22nd January, 2016, the Group acquired a further 30% of the share capital satisfied by HK$3,900,000 and 
obtained the control of Vision Lion, a registered owner of a cruiser together with an open cruiser in Hong Kong. 
There is no contingent consideration arrangement. Vision Lion was dormant prior to the acquisition.

As a result of the acquisition, the Group owns an asset for the welfare of the employees of the Group. The 
acquisition has been reflected as a purchase of assets and liabilities. Further details are set out in the Company’s 
circular dated 22nd January, 2016.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for Vision Lion, the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and 
the non-controlling interest at the acquisition date:

HK$’000

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Cash and cash equivalents 1
Property, plant and equipment 12,442
Accruals and other payables (24)
  

Total identifiable net assets 12,419

Non-controlling interest* (2,994)
  

Net identifiable net assets 9,425
  

Consideration:
At 22nd January, 2017

Total cash consideration transferred 3,900
Direct expenses in relation to the acquisition 8
Fair value of 45% equity interest in Vision Lion acquired on 16th June, 2016 5,517

  

Total consideration 9,425
  

Net cash flow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration transferred 3,900
Direct expenses in relation to the acquisition 8
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (1)

  

Net cash outflow on acquisition 3,907
  

* Non-controlling interest is measured at their proportionate share of the value of net identifiable assets acquired.
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33. Transaction with non-controlling interests
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries

On 1st May, 2015, the Company acquired an additional 30% of the issued share capital of Win Leader Limited (“Win 
Leader”) at a consideration of HK$1. On 25th November, 2015, the Company acquired an additional 33.33% of 
the issued share capital of Bright Zone Corporation Limited (“Bright Zone”) at a consideration of HK$600,000. The 
carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in Win Leader and Bright Zone on the respective date of acquisition 
was deficit of HK$181,000 and asset of HK$291,000 respectively. The Group recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interests of HK$109,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of HK$491,000. 
The effect of changes in ownership interest of Win Leader and Bright Zone on the equity attributable to owners of the 
Company during the year is as follows:

2016
HK$’000

Consideration paid 600
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired (109)
  

Excess of consideration paid recognised within equity 491
  

34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments
(a) Financial instruments by category

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 8,361 8,813
   

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9,700 19,156
   

Financial assets at amortised costs
– Trade receivables 18,354 3,852
– Deposits and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 4,326 1,399
– Loans and advances to customers 400,167 382,341
– Amounts due from associates 1,899 837
– Pledged bank deposits 1,014 1,010
– Cash and cash equivalents 23,324 39,989

   

449,084 429,428
   

Total 467,145 457,397
   

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 3
   

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
– Trade and other payables (excluding receipt in advance) 10,368 5,238
– Amounts due to non-controlling interests 852 746
– Amount due to an associate 28 –
– Amounts due to related parties 2,200 10,200
– Borrowings 5,000 7,000
– Obligation under a finance lease 105 312

   

18,553 23,496
   

Total 18,553 23,499
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34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk factors

The Group is exposed itself to variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, cash flow 
and fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group’s headquarters, in close co-operation with the 
directors of the Company. The overall objective in managing financial risks focus on securing the Group’s 
short to medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure to financial markets. Long term financial 
investments are managed to generate lasting returns with acceptable risk levels.

The Group identifies ways to assess financial markets and monitors the Group’s financial risk exposures. 
Regular reports are provided to the directors of the Company.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposures 
to foreign currency risk arise from investments in equity and debt securities and cash and cash 
equivalents, which are primarily denominated in RMB and USD. These are not the functional 
currencies of the Group entities to which these transactions relate. The Group currently does 
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management of the Group monitor foreign 
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the 
need arise.

Summary of exposure

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into HK$ at the closing 
rates, are as follows:

As at 31st March, 2017 As at 31st March, 2016
United United
States States

Dollars Renminbi Dollars Renminbi
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – 1,000 –

Cash and cash equivalents 1,317 19 2 50
Other payables (128) – (128) –
     

Overall net exposure 1,189 19 874 50
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34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

In view of the fact that the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group’s exposure of foreign currency 
risk is minimal.

No sensitivity analysis has been presented as, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
the foreign currency risk associated with the Group’s financial assets and liabilities will not be 
significant.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk for 
both years arises primarily from cash at banks and security brokers. The Group did not use 
any interest rate swaps to mitigate its exposure associated with the cash flow interest rate risk. 
However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant 
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates on 
the Group’s bank balances and variable rate borrowings at the end of the reporting period and 
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period were 
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease in used by management 
for the assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If market interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s post-tax profits for the year ended 31st March, 2017 would have been 
approximately HK$110,000 (2016: HK$199,000) higher/lower, respectively.

(iii) Price risk

Equity and debt security price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than changes 
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates). The Group is exposed to equity and debt security 
price risk arising from individual equity and debt investments classified as financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (note 17) and financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (note 16) at 31st March, 2017 and 2016.

The Group’s listed investments are primarily listed in Hong Kong. Listed investments held in 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income portfolio have been chosen 
based on their long term growth potential and are monitored regularly for performance against 
expectations. The portfolio is diversified in terms of industry distribution, in accordance with the 
limits set by the Group.
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34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit after taxation and 
other components of equity in response to the reasonably possible changes in the relevant 
stock market prices, to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting 
period.

In response to the reasonably possible change in the market price of the listed securities and 
the underlying shares, the Group’s investment in equity and debt securities has the following 
exposures:

31st March, 2017 31st March, 2016
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) Effect on Effect on (decrease) Effect on Effect on
in securities profit other in securities profit other

market after components market after components
price taxation of equity price taxation of equity

% HK$’000 HK$’000 % HK$’000 HK$’000

10 810 836 10 1,599 781
(10) (810) (836) (10) (1,599) (781)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the borrowers or counterparties may default on their payment 
obligations due to the Group. These obligations arise from the Group’s lending and investment 
activities. Generally, the maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the 
financial assets as shown on the face of the consolidated statement of financial positions which are 
summarised in note 34(a).

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has established policies and systems for the monitoring 
and control of credit r isk. The management has delegated different divisions responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring processes to ensure that follow-up 
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, management reviews the recoverable amounts 
of loans and advances to customers individually and collectively at the end of each reporting period 
to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, 
management considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk as 
11% and 32% of the total loans and advance to customers was due from the Group’s largest customer 
and the five largest customers within the money lending segment respectively (2016: 5% and 19% 
respectively). The Group’s exposures of credit risk arising from loans and advance to customers is set 
out in note 21.

For the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016, all the Group’s pledged bank deposits, cash and cash 
equivalents are deposited with major banks and securities brokers located in Hong Kong.

Sales to retail customers are made in cash or via major credit cards. The credit term for certain 
wholesale customers is 30 to 90 days from the date of billing. The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amount of each trade receivable in the reporting date after deducting any 
allowance for impairment of trade receivables, if any. The Group’s exposure of credit risk arising from 
trade receivables is set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade and other 
payables, borrowings and its financing obligations and also in respect of its cash flow management. 
The Group manages its liquidity needs on a consolidated basis by carefully monitoring scheduled debt 
servicing payments for long term financial liabilities as well as forecast cash inflows and outflows due 
in day to day business.

The Group maintains cash and marketable securities to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 
30-days periods at a minimum. Funding for longer-term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to sell longer-term financial assets.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities 
at 31st March, 2017 and 2016. When the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the 
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date on when the Group can be required to pay. Where 
the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the earliest period 
in which the Group is committed to pay. Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are 
included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their 
rights within one year after the reporting period. The maturity analysis for other non-derivative financial 
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.

The analysis is based on the financial liabilities’ contractual undiscounted cash flows (including 
interest payments calculated using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of 
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

Weighted Over Over Total
average one year two year contractual

effective Within but within but within undiscounted Carrying
At 31st March, 2017 interest rate On demand one year two years Five years cash flows amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial 
instruments

Trade and other payables – 10,368 – – – 10,368 10,368
Amounts due to non-controlling 

interests – 852 – – – 852 852
Amount due to an associate – 28 – – – 28 28
Amounts due to related parties 10 – 2,255 – – 2,255 2,200
Borrowings

– Other loan 10 – 5,166 – – 5,166 5,000
Obligation under a finance lease 1.92 – 106 – – 106 105
        

Total 11,248 7,527 – – 18,775 18,553
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34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted Over Over Total
average one year two year contractual
effective Within but within but within undiscounted Carrying

At 31st March, 2016 interest rate On demand one year two years Five years cash flows amount
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial 
instruments

Trade and other payables – 5,238 – – – 5,238 5,236
Amounts due to non-controlling 

interests – 746 – – – 746 746
Amounts due to related parties 10 – 10,728 – – 10,728 10,200
Borrowings

– Other loan 10 – 7,307 – – 7,307 7,000
Obligation under a finance lease 1.92 – 211 106 – 317 312

        

Total 5,984 18,246 106 – 24,336 23,494
        

(c) Capital risk management

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and services commensurately with the 
level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in 
economic conditions. During the year, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2016, was to continue 
to monitors its capital structure on the basis of the net debt to adjusted capital ratio at a reasonable level. 
For this purpose net debt is defined as borrowings, amounts due to related parties and obligation under a 
finance lease less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity other than 
amounts recognised in equity. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or 
sell assets to reduce debt.
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34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Capital risk management (Continued)

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings (note (i)) 5,000 7,000
Amounts due to related parties (note (i)) 2,200 10,200
Obligation under a finance lease (note (i)) 105 312
Cash and cash equivalents (23,324) (39,989)
   

Net (cash)/debt (16,019) (22,477)
   

Total equity (note (ii)) 490,271 463,076
   

Net debt to equity ratio N/A N/A
   

Notes:

(i) Amounts due to related parties, borrowings and obligation under a finance lease are detailed in notes 29(b), 25 and 
26, respectively.

(ii) Total equity includes all capital, reserves and non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

(d) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the carrying value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at fair 
value at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three levels of the 
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level in which a fair value 
measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the 
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

– Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices 
in active markets for identical assets and liabilities at the measurement date.

– Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to 
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for 
which market data are not available.

– Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurement as at
31st March, 2017 categorised into

 

Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurement
Financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income
– Listed equity securities 8,361 8,361 – –

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
– Listed equity securities 9,700 9,700 – –

     

18,061 18,061 – –
     

Fair value measurement as at
31st March, 2016 categorised into

 

Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurement
Financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income
– Listed equity securities 7,813 7,813 – –
– Unlisted equity investment funds 1,000 – – 1,000

Financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value 
through profit or loss
– Listed equity securities 19,152 19,152 – –
– Derivative financial instruments

– Index options (3) (3) – –
– Listed warrants 4 4 – –

     

27,966 26,966 – 1,000
     

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market price at the 
end of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, 
and those price represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 
basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. 
These instruments are included in Level 1. Instruments included in Level 1 comprise primarily trading 
securities, certain financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income with quoted market 
prices, and derivatives which are traded either on exchange or liquid over-the-counter markets, the 
Group use the closing price at the reporting date.
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34. Financial risk management and fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using 
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it 
is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to 
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

The fair values of bonds, unlisted investment funds and foreign exchange forward contract under Level 
2 at the reporting date were derived from quoted prices from pricing services/the foreign exchange 
forward rate that is quoted in an active market and the effect of discounting is considered insignificant.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument would 
be included in Level 3. Therefore, the Group’s financial assets classified in Level 3 use valuation 
technique based on unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement. The fair 
value of unquoted equity investment funds under Level 3 in current year is based on the fund net 
asset value as reported from the fund at the end of reporting period. The valuation of the unquoted 
investment funds would be performed monthly by the fund. The Group has determined that the 
reported net asset values represent the fair value of the unquoted equity investment funds. The fair 
value measurement is positively correlated to the net asset values.

During the years ended 31st March, 2017 and 2016, there were no transfers between Level 1 and 
Level 2. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements during the year ended 
31st March, 2017 and 2016. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfer out of Level 
3 as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the year are as follows:

Financial assets fair value through other comprehensive income

Unlisted equity
investment funds

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of year 1,000 1,078
Unrealised loss

– Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income – (78)
Settlement loss

– Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income (1,000) –
   

At the end of year – 1,000
   

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at amortised cost are not materially 
different from their fair values as at 31st March, 2017 and 2016.

35. Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

Revenue from money lending and revenue from sale of goods have been separately shown on the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31st March, 2016.

Trade receivables from an associate of HK$1,310,000 were reclassified from amounts due from associates to trade 
receivables on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st March, 2016.
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36. Events after the reporting period
On 17th May, 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered into an agreement with the existing shareholder 
of KCL, an associate of the Company, for the formation of Topwise Global Holdings Limited (“Topwise Global”) in 
which the Group has 22% equity interest. An investment holding company, Power Moto Holdings Limited (“Power 
Moto”) was formed by Topwise Global and an independent third party. Topwise Global owns 90% equity interest in 
the issued share capital of Power Moto. Power Moto and its subsidiaries will be engaged in the vehicle maintenance 
business. As agreed among the shareholders of KCL, KCL has been transferred to Power Moto and hence became 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Power Moto. The Group’s capital contribution made to KCL previously was deemed as 
part of the required capital contribution to Topwise Global.

37. Financial information of the Company
Financial information of the Company at the end of the reporting period includes information about the statement of 
financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:-

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment in a subsidiary 1,097 1,097
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 8,361 7,813
   

9,458 8,910
   

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 157 317
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9,700 19,156
Amounts due from subsidiaries 469,820 444,425
Cash and cash equivalents 497 17,039
   

480,174 480,937
   

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Other payables 329 423
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 3
Tax payable 806 806
   

1,135 1,232
   

Net current assets 479,039 479,705
   

Net assets 488,497 488,615
   

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 2,201 2,202
Reserves 486,296 486,413
   

Total equity 488,497 488,615
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37. Financial information of the Company (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Interests in subsidiaries

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment in a subsidiary 1,097 1,097
   

The directors of the Company are of opinion that none of the Group’s subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests are 
material to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

(ii) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31st March, 2017 and 2016 are set out in note 39.

(iii) Details of the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are 
set out below:

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
redemption

reserve

Investment
revaluation

reserve
Contributed

surplus
Accumulated

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 27(b)) (note 27(c)(i)) (note 27(c)(ii)) (note 27(c)(iv)) (note 27(c)(v))

Balance at 1st April, 2015 2,202 353,907 278 (20,593) 221,038 (75,113) 481,719
        

Profit for the year – – – – – 1,362 1,362

Other comprehensive income:
Changes in fair value of financial assets 

at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – – – 5,534 – – 5,534

        

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – 5,534 – 1,362 6,896

        

Transactions with owners:
Reduction of contributed surplus 

to set off against losses – – – – (75,112) 75,112 –
        

Total transaction with owners 
of the company – – – – (75,112) 75,112 –

        

Balance at 31st March, 2016 2,202 353,907 278 (15,059) 145,926 1,361 488,615
        

Balance at 1st April, 2016 2,202 353,907 278 (15,059) 145,926 1,361 488,615
        

Loss for the year – – – – – (578) (578)

Other comprehensive income:
Changes in fair value of financial assets 

at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – – – 548 – – 548

        

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 548 – (578) (30)
        

Transactions with owners:
Buy-back of shares (note 27(b))

– Purchase of shares – – (88) – – – (88)
– Cancellation of shares (1) – 1 – – – –

        

Total transaction with owners of the 
company (1) – (87) – – – (88)

        

Balance at 31st March, 2017 2,201 353,907 191 (14,511) 145,926 783 488,497
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38. New and revised HKFRSs not yet adopted
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective in 
these consolidated financial statements.

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28 Amendments

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined*

HKAS 7 Amendments Disclosure Initiative 1st January, 2017

HKAS 12 Amendments Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1st January, 2017

HKFRSs Amendments Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014 – 2016 Cycle 1st January, 2017
or 1st January, 2018

(as appropriate)

HKAS 40 Amendments Transfer of Investment Property 1st January, 2018

HKFRS 2 Amendments Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment Transactions

1st January, 2018

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments 1st January, 2018

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1st January, 2018

HK(IFRIC)–Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advice Consideration 1st January, 2018

HKFRS 16 Leases 1st January, 2019

* On 6th January, 2016, the HKICPA issued “Effective Date of Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28”, following the 
International Accounting Standards Board’s equivalent amendments. This update defers/removes the effective date of the 
amendments in “Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture” that the HKICPA 
issued on 7th October, 2014. Early application of these amendments continues to be permitted.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments and new standards is 
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have 
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements except for the following:

HKFRS Amendments

The cycle of annual improvements contains amendments to three standards, details are as follow:-

HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

The HKICPA amended and deleted certain paragraphs in relation to HKAS 19, HKFRS7 and HKFRS10 and 
the related effective date paragraphs, because they are no longer applicable. The Company shall apply those 
amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2018.
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38. New and revised HKFRSs not yet adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The amendment clarifies that except as described in specific paragraph B17, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 
12 with respect to interests in entities classified as held for sale or discontinued operations is relevant to interest 
in other entities, regardless of whether they are with the scope of HKFRS 5 Non Current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations. The Company shall apply those amendments retrospectively for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1st January, 2017.

HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that the election to measure at fair value through profit or loss an investment in an associate 
or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, is available 
for each investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, upon initial recognition. 
The Company shall apply those amendments retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 
2018.

The directors of the company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a material impact 
on the group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

In 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial instruments 
project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for 
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1st January, 2018. The Group expects 
that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have an impact on the measurement of the Group’s financial assets. Further 
information about the impact will be available nearer the implementation date of the standard.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

HKFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from 
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods 
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, HKFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the 
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive 
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of HKFRS 15. The directors of the Company believe that 
it is impractical to disclose the impact in these consolidated financial statements until the Group has completed the 
assessment.
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38. New and revised IFRSs not yet adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

Under HKFRS 16 a lessee recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset is treated 
similarly to other non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly and the liability accrues interest. This will typically 
produce a front-loaded expense profile (whereas operating leases under HKAS 17 would typically have had straight-
line expenses) as an assumed linear depreciation of the right-of-use asset and the decreasing interest on the liability 
will lead to an overall decrease of expense over the reporting period.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, 
discounted at the rate implicit in the lease if that can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the lessee shall use their incremental borrowing rate.

As with HKFRS 16’s predecessor, HKAS 17, lessors classify leases as operating or finance in nature. A lease is 
classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
underlying asset. Otherwise a lease is classified as an operating lease.

For finance leases a lessor recognises finance income over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant 
periodic rate of return on the net investment. A lessor recognises operating lease payments as income on a straight-
line basis or, if more representative of the pattern in which benefit from use of the underlying asset is diminished, 
another systematic basis.

Recognition exemptions

Instead of applying the recognition requirements of HKFRS 16 described above, a lessee may elect to account 
for lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term or another systematic basis for the 
following two types of leases:

– leases with a lease term of one year or less and containing no purchase options – this election is made by 
class of underlying asset; and

– leases where the underlying asset has a low value when new (such as personal computers or small items of 
office furniture) – this election can be made on a lease-by-lease basis.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 16 in the future may affect amounts reported 
and related disclosure. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 16 
until the Group performs a detail review.
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39. General information of subsidiaries
Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company directly and indirectly as at 31st March, 2017 and 2016 are 
as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

Class of
shares held

Paid up issued/
registered capital

Group’s
effective
interest

Held by
the Company

Held by
a subsidiary

Principal activities and
place of operations

Rainbow Cosmetic (BVI) Limited British Virgin Island, 
limited liability 
company

Ordinary 2017: USD50,000
(2016: USD50,000)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– Investment holding, 
Hong Kong

Basic Wholesale Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$15,000
(2016: HK$15,000)

2017: 80%
(2016: 80%)

– 2017: 80%
(2016: 80%)

Wholesale of grocery 
products, Hong Kong

Be Cool Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$250,000,000
(2016: HK$250,000,000)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Securities investment, 
Hong Kong

Bright Zone Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$90
(2016: HK$90)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Sales of grocery products, 
Hong Kong

Century Forever Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$1
(2016: HK$1)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Wholesale business,  
Hong Kong

Cool Cool Frozen Food Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$30,000,000
(2016: HK$30,000,000)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Wholesale of frozen food, 
Hong Kong

Cool Cool Trading (International) 
Limited (Formerly known as 
Perfect Top Corporation Limited)

Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$1
(2016: HK$1)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Sales of frozen food (2016: 
Property investment), 
Hong Kong

King of Catering (Investment) Limited Hong Kong, Limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$10 
(2016: HK$10)

2017:60%
(2016: 60%)

– 2017: 60%
(2016: 60%)

Trading of cash coupons, 
Hong Kong

Nutriplus (Asia) Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$10,000
(2016: HK$10,000)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Provision of management 
services to the Group, 
Hong Kong

T- Square Enterprise Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$51,000
(2016: Nil)

2017: 51%
(2016: Nil)

– 2017: 51%
(2016: Nil)

Retail of frozen food, Hong 
Kong

Top Empire Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$1,000
(2016: HK$1,000)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Investment holding, 
Hong Kong

Top Euro Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$1
(2016: HK$1)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Investment holding, 
Hong Kong

Top Legend Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$1
(2016: HK$1)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Securities investment, 
Hong Kong
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Proportion of ownership interest
 

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

Class of
shares held

Paid up issued/
registered capital

Group’s
effective
interest

Held by
the Company

Held by
a subsidiary

Principal activities and
place of operations

Power In Investments Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$100
(2016: HK$100)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Securities investment, 
Hong Kong

Vision Lion Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$1,000
(2016: HK$1,000)

2017: 75%
(2016: 75%)

– 2017: 75%
(2016: 75%)

Holding of ship, Hong Kong

Win Leader Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$100
(2016: HK$100)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Dormant, Hong Kong

Yvonne Credit Service Co., Limited Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Ordinary 2017: HK$10,000
(2016: HK$10,000)

2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

– 2017: 100%
(2016: 100%)

Provision of money lending 
business, Hong Kong

Note:

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the 
results for the period or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

39. General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
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